Robust Fault Tolerant Control of an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle in the Presence of Actuator Faults



Author QANDEEL FAZAL NUST201362391EME35013F

Supervisor DR. MUWAHIDA LIAQUAT

DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING COLLEGE OF ELECTRICAL & MECHANICAL ENGINEERING NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY ISLAMABAD MARCH, 2016

Robust Fault Tolerant Control of an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle in the Presence of Actuator Faults

Author
QANDEEL FAZAL

NUST201362391EME35013F

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of MS Electrical Engineering

> Thesis Supervisor: DR. MUWAHIDA LIAQUAT

Thesis Supervisor's Signature: ______

DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING COLLEGE OF ELECTRICAL & MECHANICAL ENGINEERING NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY, ISLAMABAD MARCH, 2016

Declaration

I certify that this research work titled "*Robust Fault Tolerant Control of an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle in the Presence of Actuator Faults*" is my own work. The work has not been presented elsewhere for assessment. The material that has been used from other sources it has been properly acknowledged / referred.

Signature of Student QANDEEL FAZAL NUST201362391EME35013F

Language Correctness Certificate

This thesis has been read by an English expert and is free of typing, syntax, semantic, grammatical and spelling mistakes. Thesis is also according to the format given by the university.

Signature of Student QANDEEL FAZAL NUST201362391EME35013F

Signature of Supervisor DR. MUWAHIDA LIAQUAT

Copyright Statement

- Copyright in text of this thesis rests with the student author. Copies (by any process) either in full, or of extracts, may be made only in accordance with instructions given by the author and lodged in the Library of NUST College of E&ME. Details may be obtained by the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made. Further copies (by any process) may not be made without the permission (in writing) of the author.
- The ownership of any intellectual property rights which may be described in this thesis is vested in NUST College of E&ME, subject to any prior agreement to the contrary, and may not be made available for use by third parties without the written permission of the College of E&ME, which will prescribe the terms and conditions of any such agreement.
- Further information on the conditions under which disclosures and exploitation may take place is available from the Library of NUST College of E&ME, Rawalpindi.

Acknowledgements

This research would have been impossible without the support of many people. First and foremost, I profusely thank Almighty Allah, who gave me the strength and guided me at each and every stage of this research. Indeed, this research would have been inconceivable without His guidance and mercy. I would also like to express thanks to my beloved parents and dear siblings, without their unconditional support, prayers and blessings I would not have been able to complete this work. I would also like to gratefully acknowledge the enthusiastic supervision of my supervisor Dr. Muwahida Liaquat for her help throughout my thesis. She was abundantly helpful and offered invaluable assistance, support and guidance throughout this thesis. I would also like to pay special gratefulness to Dr. Muhammad Salman for his help. I would also like to pay special thanks to Nida Ishtiaq, Naila Ishfaq and Maheen Iftikhar for their remarkable support and cooperation throughout the whole thesis.

Finally, I sincerely and humbly appreciate every individual who has helped and guided me through the process of this research.

Dedicated to my beloved parents, esteemed teachers, much-loved siblings and sincere friends, without you all, life is meaningless.

Abstract

The control and navigation of Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAVs) is quite demanding in general as these autonomous vehicles experiences different kind of faults during flight. Successful flight of UAVs hence demands some methods or techniques by virtue of which these autonomous vehicles can cater for these faults and deal with them efficiently as early as possible. Many different schemes have been developed for the Fault Tolerant Control (FTC) of UAVs. In this study, a robust approach for the FTC of a UAV in the occurrence of three different forms of actuator faults namely abrupt, incipient and intermittent is developed and verified. The Fault Detection and Isolation (FDI) is achieved by employing the Observer based residual scheme. In order to make the generated residuals insensitive to disturbances and uncertainties, the method of Eigenstructure Assignment (EA) is also incorporated in the FDI scheme. The Sequential Probability Ratio Test (SPRT) is employed for the efficient statistical testing of the residuals during the detection phase. Afterwards the Multiple Models Switching and Tuning (MMST) technique based on Linear Quadratic Gaussian Regulator (LQG) is designed and used as the reconfigurable controller. A linearized lateral directional model of the Aerosonde UAV is then used to test the robustness and efficacy of the proposed scheme for FTC in Simulink (MATLAB). The results of the simulations duly justify the efficiency of the developed FTC scheme for a UAV. The proposed FTC scheme is hence an efficient, robust and practical methodology for the detection and reconfiguration of the actuator faults occurring in UAVs during flight.

Key Words: Unmanned Aerial Vehicle, Fault tolerant control, Actuator, Fault detection and isolation, Observers, Eigenstructure assignment, Linear Quadratic Gaussian, Robustness, Redundancy, Eigenvalues

Table of Contents

Declaration	i
Language Correctness Certificate	ii
Copyright Statement	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Abstract	vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xiii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Motivation	1
1.2 Problem Statement	1
1.3 Requirements and Research Approach	2
1.4 Scope of the Thesis	3
1.5 Thesis Outline	4
CHAPTER 2: OVERVIEW AND ANALYSIS OF FTC	5
2.1 FTC Systems-A Historical Overview	5
2.2 Basics of FTC	2
2.2.1 Terminology used for FTC	2
2.2.2 Types of faults	4
2.2.3 An overview of FTC	5
2.3 FTC of UAVs-A Historical Overview	8
CHAPTER 3: SYSTEM MODELLING WITH FAULTS	10
3.1 System Modelling	10
CHAPTER 4: FAULT DETECTION AND ISOLATION	
4.1 FDI Basics	13
4.1.1 Redundancy	13

2	4.1.2	Residual generation	15
2	4.1.3	Fault detectability	16
2	4.1.4	Fault isolation	16
2	4.1.5	Fault decision	16
СНА	PTER	5: FULL-STATE OBSERVER BASED RESIDUAL GENERATION	17
5.1	F	Gull-state Observers-An Overview	
5.2	2 F	Residual Generation through Observers	19
СНА	PTER	6: EIGENSTRUCTURE ASSIGNMENT	19
6.1	E	Sigenstructure Assignment-Basics	20
(6.1.1	Rank of a matrix	20
(6.1.2	Vector space	21
(6.1.3	Vector subspace	21
(6.1.4	Dimension of vector space	21
(6.1.5	Basis of vector space	21
(6.1.6	Span of vectors	21
(6.1.7	Null space	21
(6.1.8	Eigenvalue	21
(6.1.9	Eigenvector	22
(6.1.10	Eigenstructure	22
6.2	2 I	eft Eigenstructure Assignment	22
,	Theore	m 6.1:	23
]	Examp	le 6.1:	23
СНА	PTER	7: SEQUENTIAL PROBABILITY RATIO TEST	25
7.1	l A	An Overview of Hypothesis Testing	25
,	7.1.1	Null and alternate hypotheses	25
,	7.1.2	Formulation of hypotheses	25
,	7.1.3	Error (misidentification) probabilities	26
,	7.1.4	Probability density function (pdf)	27
,	7.1.5	Gaussian distribution	27

7.1.6	5 Conditional probability density function	27
7.1.7	7 Likelihood ratio test	27
7.2	SPRT	
7.2.1	SPRT for residuals possessing Gaussian distribution	
СНАРТЕ	ER 8: MULTIPLE MODELS SWITCHING AND TUNING METHOD AND L	INEAR
QUADRA	ATIC GAUSSIAN REGULATORS	
8.1	Reconfiguration	
8.2	Terminology	
8.2.1	Model	
8.2.2	2 Environment	34
8.2.3	3 Multiple models	
8.2.4	Switching	
8.2.5	5 Tuning	
8.2.6	5 Switching and tuning	
8.3	Multiple Models Switching and Tuning (MMST)	
8.3.1	General architecture of the multiple models control system	35
8.3.2	2 The switching criterion for MMST	
8.3.3	Choice of models	
8.3.4	Stability analysis of MMST	
8.4	Linear Quadratic Gaussian (LQG) Regulator	
8.4.1	LQG-An overview	
8.4.2	2 MMST scheme with LQG	41
СНАРТЕ	ER 9: MATHEMATICAL MODELLING OF UAVs	42
9.1	Airplane Flight Mechanics	42
9.2	Forces Acting on the Aircraft	43
9.2.1	Lift	43
9.2.2	2 Weight	44
9.2.3	3 Thrust	44
9.2.4	4 Drag	44

9.3	Ec	quations of Motion in 6DOF	44
9.3	.1	Non-linear equations of motion	45
9.3	.2	Aircraft dynamic models	47
9.3	.3	Linear equations of motion	48
9.4	A	erosonde UAV	48
СНАРТ	TER	10: SIMULATIONS AND RESULTS	49
10.1	St	ate Space Model of Aerosonde UAV	49
10.2	A	ddition of Disturbances and Noise in the Aerosonde UAV State Space Model	50
10.3	In	puts and Outputs of the Aerosonde UAV State Space Model	50
10.4	A	ctuator Faults introduced in the Aerosonde UAV State Space Model	51
10.5	Aj	pplication of the proposed FDI technique on the Aerosonde UAV State Space Model	53
10.:	5.1	FDI for actuator faults at t=2s	54
10.:	5.2	FDI for actuator faults at t=5s	56
10.:	5.3	FDI for actuator faults at t=7s	58
10.6	Aj	pplication of the proposed Reconfiguration technique on the Aerosonde UAV State Space Model	59
10.	6.1	Reconfiguration for actuator faults at t=2s	60
10.	6.2	Reconfiguration for actuator faults at t=5s	62
10.	6.3	Reconfiguration for actuator faults at t=7s	63
СНАРТ	TER 1	11: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE SCOPE	65
11.1	Co	onclusions	65
11.2	Fu	iture Work	65
APPEN	DIX	A	67
REFER	ENC	TES	71

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Organizational chart of the thesis	4
Figure 2.1: The areas of FTC [27]	б
Figure 2.2: FTC classification [27]	6
Figure 2.3: The general FTC scheme	7
Figure 3.1: The open-loop model	10
Figure 3.2: The system model with faults	11
Figure 4.1: Different types of FDI redundancy [37]	14
Figure 4.2: Robust FDI	15
Figure 5.1: Luenberger Observer	
Figure 7.1: SPRT Flow Chart	29
Figure 8.1: General MMST architecture	
Figure 9.1: Aircraft body axis system	42
Figure 9.2: Important aircraft parts	43
Figure 9.3: Forces acting on an aircraft	43
Figure 9.4: Aerosonde UAV	48
Figure 10.1: Input vector	51
Figure 10.2: Abrupt actuator fault at t=2s	
Figure 10.3: Incipient actuator fault at t=2s	
Figure 10.4: Intermittent actuator fault at t=2s	53
Figure 10.5: Residual signals generated when no faults are present	54
Figure 10.6: Residual signals generated when abrupt fault is present	54
Figure 10.7: Residual signals generated when incipient fault is present	55
Figure 10.8: Residual signals generated when intermittent fault is present	55
Figure 10.9: Residual signals generated when abrupt fault is present	56
Figure 10.10: Residual signals generated when incipient fault is present	57
Figure 10.11: Residual signals generated when intermittent fault is present	
Figure 10.12: Residual signals generated when abrupt fault is present	
Figure 10.13: Residual signals generated when incipient fault is present	
Figure 10.14: Residual signals generated when intermittent fault is present	59
Figure 10.15: Output of LQG when no faults are present	60
Figure 10.16: Output of LQG when abrupt fault is present	60
Figure 10.17: Output of LQG when incipient fault is present	61
Figure 10.18: Output of LQG when intermittent fault is present	61
Figure 10.19: Output of LQG when abrupt fault is present	
Figure 10.20: Output of LQG when incipient fault is present	62

Figure 10.21: Output of LQG when intermittent fault is present	63
Figure 10.22: Output of LQG when abrupt fault is present	63
Figure 10.23: Output of LQG when incipient fault is present	64
Figure 10.24: Output of LQG when intermittent fault is present	64

List of Tables

Table 2-1: Chronological classification of FDI and FTC methods	5
Table 2-2: Publications on FDI methods for UAVs	8
Table 2-3: Publications on FTC methods for UAVs	8
Table 4-1: FDI methods	14
Table 7-1: Types of errors in hypotheses testing	26
Table 10-1: Delays in actuator fault detection at t=2s	56
Table 10-2: Delays in actuator fault detection at t=5s	57
Table 10-3: Delays in actuator fault detection at t=7s	59

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

This chapter serves to introduce the main inspiration, aims and scope of the research. The requirements which led to the formulation of the FTC technique for UAVs are also discussed in this chapter. At the end, an outline of the thesis and its organization is provided.

1.1 Motivation

Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV)-as the name implies- is an aircraft without any human pilot on board. UAVs can either be remotely controlled or autonomous. The earliest UAVs were developed and used primarily for military purposes in the mid-1800s [1]. Today, UAVs are being used for different applications; military, remote sensing, aerial surveillance, photography and filming, oil and gas exploration, disaster relief, scientific research, to name a few. The use of UAVs for accomplishing different tasks in the current era has made the design, control and navigation of these autonomous vehicles an active area of study and research. The control and navigation of UAVs is quite a challenging task generally and it requires a great amount of research and effort to operate a UAV safely and efficiently to get the desired response since these systems are generally quite vulnerable to various faults during operations. During flight, UAVs may experience different faults which have to be dealt with as early as possible since they may cause undesirable behaviour or even closed loop instabilities which may prove to be disastrous for the UAVs. Around 80 percent of the incidents of failures occurring in UAVs are basically due to the faults occurring in the UAV's actuators, sensors or control surfaces as per a survey by the US Office of the Secretary of Defence [2]. Hence different techniques for the FTC of UAVs have been developed and employed to deal with such faults and improve the reliability and life time of UAVs.

The main idea which served as a motivation for this research work was to develop a robust technique which would help the UAVs cater for the actuator faults experienced during flight efficiently.

1.2 Problem Statement

The FTC of UAVs is important for their safe operation in practical environments due to the

presence of faults. The core objective of this thesis is "to develop a robust FTC approach for UAVs for dealing with the actuator faults occurring during flight." For this purpose, this research uses the observer based residual generation method and the residuals are made insensitive to uncertainties and noise disturbances through the Eigenstructure Assignment method. SPRT is then employed for fault detection and subsequently the LQG based MMST technique is developed for the reconfiguration phase.

1.3 Requirements and Research Approach

During flight, UAVs experience different types of actuator faults which might affect their stability and overall performance. To alleviate the effects of such faults, the FTC scheme developed has to be efficient, swift and robust to the disturbances and uncertainties present in the environment. Various FTC techniques were discussed and planned in the initial phase of this research. These FTC methods were analysed on the basis of complexity, efficiency and robustness to environmental disturbances and uncertainties. Due to the reduced complexity and overall performance, the full-state observer method was selected for the purpose of generating residuals during the fault detection stage. The residual generation method on testing, worked very well for the case where no disturbances and uncertainties were present in the system but it could not detect actuator faults accurately when noise disturbances and uncertainties were introduced in the system. Since in most practical applications, the environment faced by UAVs is corrupted by noise and there are model uncertainties present in the system, so a full-state observer residual generation method was not adequate enough on its own to detect the actuator faults. Due to this reason, different methods to make the residuals robust to the disturbances were researched upon and a mathematical method known as "Eigenstructure assignment" was selected for the robustness of the residuals.

After the residual generation, the problem of detection of the actuator faults at the earliest was studied. The Sequential Probability Ratio Test (SPRT) method was selected which proved to be very efficient in detecting actuator faults upon testing. A lot of study had to be done in selecting the parameters for the SPRT which produced the desired results for fault detection.

Once the techniques were finalized for the fault detection stage, the focus of the research was then shifted towards the appropriate reconfiguration action which would ensure the stability of the UAV system. Several methods were researched upon for this and finally the technique known as Multiple Models Switching and Tuning (MMST) was chosen for the reconfiguration stage. In order to make the reconfiguration step optimal and efficient, Linear Quadratic Gaussian (LQG) regulators were based MMST design was decided upon and developed.

After the research and development of the FTC technique, the next step undertaken was to study and analyse the UAV model that would be used for the purpose of simulations and testing of our FTC method. For this purpose, first of all a brief study of the UAV aerodynamics was conducted to better understand the mathematical modelling. The various kinds of faults occurring in the UAVs were studied along with the types of noise and disturbances encountered by UAVs during flight in practical environments. Actuator faults of three different types were then used along with Gaussian noise disturbances for simulations. Next, a decision was made whether to use a linear or a non-linear model of UAV for the simulations and testing phase for which an analysis of the different existing UAV state-space models was made. Once it was settled that the state space model of the UAV used would be linear, different accessible linearized state space models of UAVs were thoroughly studied and analysed. A linearized lateral directional model of the Aerosonde UAV was finally selected and used for the simulations and testing of the developed FTC technique.

The aforementioned technique developed for the Fault Tolerant Control of UAVs was tested and it proved to be quite effective and robust against disturbances in the event of actuator faults.

1.4 Scope of the Thesis

The research work put forth in this thesis deals with the design and development of a robust FTC technique for UAVs in the presence of different kinds of actuator faults. The aspects that were looked into for the purpose of this research work were the development of a fault detection scheme that was robust to the noise and disturbances present in the environment and a reconfiguration method that allowed the UAV to cater for the actuator faults efficiently and stably. The linearized lateral directional model of the Aerosonde UAV was later on used as a tool for testing the developed FTC technique and analysing its performance.

1.5 Thesis Outline

The following chart sums up the organization and outline of our thesis:



Figure 1.1: Organizational chart of the thesis

CHAPTER 2: OVERVIEW AND ANALYSIS OF FTC

This chapter provides the literature review of FTC. A historical overview of the developments made in the realm of FTC is presented. The common terminology used and the basic concepts of FTC are also discussed. A brief summary of the research and work done on the FTC of UAVs to date is also made a part of this chapter.

2.1 FTC Systems-A Historical Overview

The theory of FTC was basically born when Neumann suggested the concept of duplication to improve the safety and reliability of systems in the year 1956 [3]. To reduce the costs, replacing hardware redundancy by analytical for FTC was proposed by Beard in 1971 at MIT through the use of fault detection filters [4]. The development of different FDI and FTC techniques over the years has been discussed in various publications some of which are illustrated in a chronological order in Table 2-1.

Year	FDI Methods	FTC Methods
1971	[4], [5]	
1974	[6], [7]	
1975	[8]	
1979	[9]	
1980	[10]	
1981	[11]	
1982	[12], [13]	
1986	[14], [15]	
1987	[16]	
1988	[17], [18]	
1989	[19]	
1991	[20]-[22]	[23]
1992	[24]	

Table 2-1: Chronological classification of FDI and FTC methods

1994	[25]	
1997	[26]	[27], [28]
2005	[29]	[30]
2006	[31]	
2008	[32]	[33], [34]
2009		[35]
2010		[36], [37]
2011	[38]	
2012	[39]-[41]	[42]- [44]
2013	[45], [46]	[47], [48]
2014	[49]	[50]
2015	[51], [52]	[53], [54]

Since the early days of conception, the method of FTC has gained popularity and has been employed for the safety and reliability of many critical systems and applications such as nuclear power plants [55] - [57], automotive systems [58], chemical processes [59], [60] and aerospace systems [61]-[64].

2.2 Basics of FTC

2.2.1 Terminology used for FTC

The International Federation of Automatic Control (IFAC) SAFEPROCESS Technical Committee has tried to define the basic terms used in the theory of FTC [65]. Some of the terms and their definitions are stated in [66], [67]. The terms which are useful for the comprehension and development of this research are given below:

Fault:

An unpermitted deviation of at least one characteristic property or parameter of the system from the acceptable, usual or standard condition.

Failure:

A permanent interruption of a system's ability to perform a required function under specified operating conditions.

Malfunction:

An intermittent irregularity in the fulfilment of a system's desired function.

Disturbance:

An unknown (and uncontrolled) input acting on a system.

Residual:

A fault indicator, based on a deviation between measurements and model-equation-based computations.

Fault detection:

Determination of faults present in a system and the time of detection.

Fault isolation:

Determination of the kind, location and time of detection of a fault. Follows fault detection.

Fault identification:

Determination of the size and time-variant behaviour of a fault. Follows fault isolation.

Fault diagnosis:

Determination of the kind, size, location and time of detection of a fault. Follows fault detection. Includes fault detection and identification.

Protection:

Means by which a potentially dangerous behaviour of the system is suppressed if possible, or means by which the consequences of a dangerous behaviour are avoided.

Quantitative model:

Use of static and dynamic relations among system variables and parameters in order to describe a system's behaviour in quantitative mathematical terms.

Analytical Redundancy:

Use of more (not necessarily identical) ways to determine a variable, where one way uses a mathematical process model in analytical form.

Reliability:

Ability of a system to perform a required function under stated conditions, within a given scope, during a given period of time.

Safety:

Ability of a system not to cause danger to persons or equipment or the environment.

2.2.2 Types of faults

Faults can be categorised according to their place of occurrence, their time dependency or with regards to process models. If the classification is based off on the location of occurrence then the faults are of the following three types [68]:

Actuator fault:

In a control system, actuators are the elements that control or actuate the plant by getting activated. So actuator faults and malfunctions can lead to a partial or complete loss of system functions and dynamics and ultimately cause the failure of the control system. Actuator faults are of different types namely hard over, float, lock-in place and loss of effectiveness [69].

Sensor fault:

Sensor faults appear as errors in the measurements of the process variables made in the control system. The different types of sensor faults are: loss of accuracy, drift, bias, and freezing and calibration error.

Component fault:

Component faults affect and change the dynamics of the control system. This may lead to invalid dynamics between the varying physical variables of the system.

Based on their time dependency, the following faults may be experienced by any system [66], [67]:

Abrupt fault:

Fault modelled as stepwise function. It symbolises a bias in the monitored signal.

Incipient fault:

Fault modelled by means of ramp signals. It symbolises a drift of the monitored signal.

Intermittent fault:

Combination of impulses of faults which can have different amplitudes and occur in a periodic manner with a specific time period.

Generally, incipient and intermittent faults are tougher to detect as compared to abrupt faults.

With regards to process models, a fault can be of the following types:

Additive fault:

Influences a variable by an addition of the fault itself. They may represent, e.g., offsets of sensors.

Multiplicative fault:

Is represented by the product of a variable with the fault itself. Can act as parameter changes within a process.

2.2.3 An overview of FTC

Fault tolerance is actually the "the ability of a controlled system to maintain control objectives, despite the occurrence of a fault. A degradation of control performance may be accepted. Fault-tolerance can be obtained through fault accommodation or through system and /or controller reconfiguration" [70]. Fault Tolerant Control is basically a control methodology which persistently allows the safe running of a control process along with assisting in providing acceptable deviations of the control process whenever a fault occurs. A great amount of study and developments on FTC have been carried out in the past and it is an ever-growing arena of research to date also. The control systems which possess the ability to detect and cater for the effects of faults are known as Fault Tolerant Control Systems (FTCS). According to the Zhang and Jiang: "control systems which enjoy the capability to accommodate component failures automatically. They are capable of maintaining overall system stability and acceptable performance in the event of such failures. In other words, a closed-loop control system which can tolerate component malfunctions, while maintaining desirable performance and stability properties is said to be a fault-tolerant control system" [34]. This makes FTC an important and essential component of many critical systems today.

Three different but important areas of control systems; FDI, reconfigurable control and robust control, contribute together to form the vast field of FTC. Each of these fields is a separate area of research in itself. The interaction of the above mentioned elements of FTC is depicted in Figure 2.1 [69]. The various areas are discussed separately and elaborately by Patton in [27].



Figure 2.1: The areas of FTC [27]

FTC is divided into two main groups; active FTC and passive FTC (Figure 2.2), each of which is described below [27], [34]:



Figure 2.2: FTC classification [27]

Active FTC:

This type of FTC is "active"- as the name suggests. It responds to the faults intelligently by redesigning a new control system to safeguard the overall stability and performance of the control system at an adequate (reduced) level. Active FTC (AFTC) requires some means or methodology by which prior knowledge of the faults be made available to the reconfiguration

mechanism. Either the type of fault most likely to affect should be known beforehand or some fault detection scheme should be present in an active FTCS. Therefore the active type of FTC has an FDI section which provides the necessary and requisite information regarding faults. AFTC is further classified into projection type FTC and online redesign or adaptation type. In the projection type AFTC, an appropriate control-law is selected depending upon the faults with the control-law being pre-designed. Projection type FTC has three further categories; scheduling, prediction and model switching or blending. On the other hand, in the online redesign/ adaptation type of AFTC, a new control-law is calculated after the occurrence of a fault, this is called reconfiguration. AFTC may also include fault identification or fault diagnosis schemes instead of an FDI scheme. The general scheme of AFTC is shown in the following figure.



Figure 2.3: The general FTC scheme

Passive FTC:

Passive type of FTC is mostly based on the approaches of robust control and it does not require any information regarding the faults. The controller and the system structure remains fixed in passive FTC (PFTC) hence the original system's performance is retained. In most practical scenarios however, AFTC is preferable as compared to PFTC as the information regarding faults is usually necessary for any reconfiguration action to take place. More information regarding PFTC can be obtained from [71].

The design of FTCS is a challenging task and requires a thorough understanding and effort at every step. Therefore it is necessary that a complete and in-depth analysis of the control system, faults affecting its desired performance and the most suitable control action be performed to design and develop an efficient and successful FTCS.

2.3 FTC of UAVs-A Historical Overview

There is no denying of the importance of UAVs in the current aerospace industry. Hence the FTC of UAVs has emerged as a popular and important research field since the past few years. Various papers and books have been published in the domain of FTC of UAVs. [72], [73] are good surveys on the FDI and FTC of UAVs. For the FDI of UAVs, several linear and non-linear techniques have been proposed and developed in the past. The different publications on FDI techniques for UAVs are depicted in Table 2-2:

FDI Method	Publication
Observer based	[74]-[81]
Kalman Filter	[82]-[89]
Unscented Kalman Filter	[90], [91]
Parity Space	[92]-[97]
Unknown Input Observers	[98]-[102]
H _∞ Filters	[103]-[106]
Parameter Estimation	[107]-[108]
Non-linear Geometry	[109]-[111]
Expert Systems	[112]-[113]
Neural Networks	[114]-[117]

 Table 2-2: Publications on FDI methods for UAVs

Likewise, different papers have been published on the FTC methods for UAVs, a few of which are shown in the following Table:

FTC Method	Publication
Sliding Mode Controller	[118], [119]
Adaptive Control	[120], [121]
Control Allocation	[122]
Model Predictive Control	[123]
Linear Parameter Varying Control	[124]
MMST	[125], [126]

Table 2-3: Publications on FTC methods for UAVs

H_{∞} Controllers	[127]

FTC of UAVs is presently an active area of study and exploration and many important and beneficial methodologies of FTC are underway.

CHAPTER 3: SYSTEM MODELLING WITH FAULTS

This chapter focuses on the development of the dynamic model of the FTC system. Faults are also incorporated in the system model. The noise disturbances and modelling uncertainties are also catered for in order to make the model work for practical situations and noisy environments.

3.1 System Modelling

Before moving to the development of the FTC technique suggested in this thesis, the system model is developed and explained. The state space model used in this thesis is linear time invariant (LTI). So linearization around a nominal point will have to be done if this FTC technique is to be applied on a non-linear model. The FTC technique developed in this research is applied on a Multi-Input Multi-Output (MIMO) state space model.

The LTI system model with the different components of the open-loop system shown in Figure 3.1. The plant dynamics are:

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t) \tag{3.1}$$

$$y(t) = Cx(t) + Du(t)$$
(3.2)

Where $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is the state vector, $u(t) \in \mathbb{R}^q$ is the input signal vector and $y(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ is the output vector of the plant. $A_{n \times n}, B_{n \times q}, C_{m \times n}, D_{m \times q}$ are the time-invariant state-space matrices.



Figure 3.1: The open-loop model

In most of the practical situations, the LTI system model possesses some modeling uncertainties. The plant dynamics inclusive of these uncertainties are:

$$\dot{x}(t) = (A + \Delta A)x(t) + (B + \Delta B)u(t)$$
(3.3)

$$y(t) = (C + \Delta C)x(t) + (D + \Delta D)u(t)$$
(3.4)

Along with the modelling uncertainties, the LTI system experiences noise and unknown disturbances in the practical situations, so the plant dynamics are updated as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = (A + \Delta A)x(t) + (B + \Delta B)u(t) + E_1n_1(t)$$
(3.5)

$$y(t) = (C + \Delta C)x(t) + (D + \Delta D)u(t) + E_2 n_2(t)$$
(3.6)

Where $n_1(t), n_2(t)$ are the noise vectors and E_1, E_2 are the noise/disturbance matrices of appropriate dimensions. If component faults are present in the system:

$$\dot{x}(t) = (A + \Delta A + \Delta A_c)x(t) + (B + \Delta B + \Delta B_c)u(t) + E_1n_1(t)$$
(3.7)

$$y(t) = (C + \Delta C + \Delta C_c)x(t) + (D + \Delta D + \Delta D_c)u(t) + E_2n_2(t)$$
(3.8)

Where $\Delta A_c, \Delta B_c, \Delta C_c, \Delta D_c$ represent the component fault matrices. On incorporating the actuator and sensor faults in the plant model we get:

$$\dot{x}(t) = (A + \Delta A + \Delta A_c)x(t) + (B + \Delta B + \Delta B_c)u(t) + E_1n_1(t) + Bf_a(t)$$
(3.9)

$$y(t) = (C + \Delta C + \Delta C_c)x(t) + (D + \Delta D + \Delta D_c)u(t) + E_2n_2(t) + f_s(t)$$
(3.10)

Where $f_a(t) \in \mathbb{R}^q$ represents the actuator faults while $f_s(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ is the sensors fault vector. The fault model is shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2: The system model with faults

The component faults and modelling uncertainties are included in the model as multiplicative faults which can make the task of applying FDI algorithms cumbersome. So we desire to model these as additive faults as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t) + E_1 n_1(t) + B f_a(t) + F_1 f_c(t)$$
(3.11)

$$y(t) = Cx(t) + Du(t) + E_2 n_2(t) + f_s(t) + F_2 f_c(t)$$
(3.12)

Where $f_c(t)$ is the component faults vector which is inclusive of the modelling uncertainties. F_1, F_2 are the component fault matrices of appropriate dimensions. As this thesis aims to develop an FTC technique for UAVs in the existence of actuator faults, only the actuator faults are considered in the model which is:

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t) + E_1 n_1(t) + Bf_a(t)$$
(3.13)

$$y(t) = Cx(t) + Du(t)$$
 (3.14)

The fault model in (3.13)-(3.14) will be used for the design and formation of the suggested FTC method in this thesis.

CHAPTER 4: FAULT DETECTION AND ISOLATION

This chapter discusses the basic concepts, methods and techniques employed for FDI. A brief discussion of the concepts of redundancy, fault isolation and fault detectability is also provided.

4.1 FDI Basics

FDI is an important part of all Active FTCS. It provides all the necessary information about the faults; their time of detection and locations, to the reconfiguration module which then takes the most appropriate control action in the response [69]. FDI basically provides a binary decision in favour of or against the faults to the reconfiguration step. The FDI stage may or may not include detection, isolation and identification steps.

4.1.1 Redundancy

The base of the FDI is redundancy. The FDI stage utilizes the redundancy whether it is analytical or hardware, to decide for a fault. Hardware redundancy-as the name implies- exploits the concept of redundancy in either sensors or actuators, or both. Duplicative signals generated by different instruments such as sensors are compared and the resulting errors are then utilized for additional measurements. Some of the common methods used for hardware redundancy methods are residual generation method using parity generation based on sensor geometry or signal pattern, Cross channel monitoring (CCM) and signal processing methods for instance wavelet transformation etc. [37]. As the heart of hardware redundancy lies in employing extra equipments so it proves to be costly generally. This is the main reason for going for analytical redundancy methods.

Analytic redundancy methods use the mathematical model of the control system for FDI. Efficient algorithms and techniques are utilized for the analytical type of redundancy. As this method does not need any surplus hardware i.e. sensors and actuators, this approach is much more cost effective and decreases the total weight of the control system by removing the need of extra hardware and equipment. So this method is very useful for critical systems such as UAVs and other aerospace applications. However it is to be noted that this technique is much more complicated and challenging as it depends on algorithms which may not be very effective and

robust in the occurrence of certain model uncertainties, noise, and unknown disturbances. Figure 4.1 summarizes the differences between the hardware and analytical redundancy methods.



Figure 4.1: Different types of FDI redundancy [37]

Analytical Redundancy methods are either model based or non-model based. Table 4-1 illustrates some of the model and non-model based FDI techniques.

Model Based FDI	Non-Model Based FDI
Full-State Observer Based	Neural Networks
Unknown Input Observers	Expert System
Kalman Filter Based	Genetic Algorithms
System Identification	Granular Computing
Parity Relations	Wavelet Transform
Optimization Based	Time Domain Analysis
Non-linear Systems	Frequency Domain Analysis

Table 4-1: FDI methods

It is easier to design and implement model based FDI techniques as compared to the non-model based ones [30]. Model based FDI consists of two phases: Residual generation and Fault declaration. The robust model based FDI scheme designed in this research is demonstrated in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2: Robust FDI

4.1.2 Residual generation

The residual signal is in effect a function expressing the relationship between the input and output vectors of a plant, that is:

$$r(t) = f(u(t), y(t))$$
(4.1)

In most of the cases, the residual signal is the difference between the actual output of the plant y(t) and the output estimated by means of any of the analytical redundancy methods $\hat{y}(t)$:

$$r(t) = y(t) - \hat{y}(t)$$
 (4.2)

In other words, a residual signal represents any inconsistency between the mathematical model and the actual system model [128]. Residual signals are not dependent on the control system's operating conditions and require information regarding the system's mathematical model only. This makes this method a very convenient one for model based FDI.

In order for fault detection, a residual evaluation function J(r(t)) is tested. The residual evaluation function is the mean of the residual signal in most of the cases.

$$J(r(t)) = E[r(t)] \tag{4.3}$$

The mean is tested:

$$\begin{cases} E[r(t)] = 0; & for & f(t) = 0\\ E[r(t)] \neq 0; & for & f(t) \neq 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.4)

Since in most of the cases, residual generation takes place in the existence of noise and model uncertainties, the above test has to be modified for efficient fault detection so that the generated residuals become robust to these noise and disturbances. Table 4-1 enlists some of the various residual generation schemes for FDI. The model based technique utilizing full-state observers is employed in this thesis.

4.1.3 Fault detectability

The transfer function matrix between the residual signal and the fault(s) is called the "fault transfer matrix" and it is given as [128]:

$$G_{rf}(s) = H(s)G_{f}(s) = r(s) / f(s)$$

= $\sum_{i=1}^{f} [G_{rf}(s)]_{i} f_{i}(s)$ (4.5)

Where $[G_{rf}(s)]_i$ and $f_i(s)$ are the *i* th column of the fault transfer matrix and the *i* th row of the fault vector respectively. In order to detect the fault $f_i(s)$, the following condition must be fulfilled:

$$\left[G_{if}(s)\right]_{i} \neq 0 \tag{4.6}$$

Or in other words, the fault(s) must be present and "detectable" in the residual signal and this is known as the "fault detectability condition." There also exists another fault detectability condition:

$$[G_{rf}(0)]_i \neq 0 \tag{4.7}$$

Known as the "strong fault detectability condition" of the residual.

4.1.4 Fault isolation

In an FDI system, different and multiple faults may be present. The fault isolation step isolates or separates the different types of faults. A vector of residuals is necessary for this purpose. Two approaches are used for fault isolation; the directional residual step and the structured residual step. [128] discusses both the approaches in detail. Since this thesis deals with only a single fault at a time hence fault isolation is not needed.

4.1.5 Fault decision

After the residual generation comes the decision making stage which decides whether or not a fault has arisen in the system. This is usually done by testing the residual signals against different thresholds. Efficient testing is done using different statistical tests for decision making. Some of the common statistical tests are:

1. Sequential Probability Ratio Test (SPRT)

- 2. Local Approach
- 3. Generalized Likelihood Ratio (GLR) Test
- 4. Cumulative Sum (CUMSUM) Test

An explanation of the above tests may be obtained from [37]. The SPRT is used in this research for fault decision making [37].

CHAPTER 5: FULL-STATE OBSERVER BASED RESIDUAL GENERATION
The method used for the residual generation for FDI in this research is the full-state observer based method which is discoursed in detail in this chapter.

5.1 Full-state Observers-An Overview

The full-state observer approach employs the theory of the simple Luenberger observer for generating the residual signals for FDI. The basic notion is to reconstruct or estimate the outputs or states of a control system using the measurements obtained by the sensors. The general structure of the Luenberger observer is presented in Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1: Luenberger Observer

The state space model of the observer is:

$$\dot{\hat{x}}(t) = A\hat{x}(t) + Bu(t) + L(y(t) - \hat{y}(t))$$
(5.1)

$$\hat{y}(t) = C\hat{x}(t) \tag{5.2}$$

Here $\hat{x}(t)$ represents the estimated state vector and *L* is the observer gain matrix. The error between the states and their estimates is given as:

$$\tilde{x}(t) = x(t) - \hat{x}(t) \tag{5.3}$$

The error dynamics become:

$$\dot{\tilde{x}}(t) = \dot{x}(t) - \dot{\tilde{x}}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t) - A\hat{x}(t) - Bu(t) - L(y(t) - C\hat{x}(t)) = (A - LC)\tilde{x}(t)$$
(5.4)

In order for the error to go to zero asymptotically (A-LC) should be a stable matrix, that is, all the eigen values of this matrix should be in the left half plane LHP. So L should be calculated keeping this criterion in mind.

5.2 Residual Generation through Observers

The design of the Luenberger observers for FDI has been discussed by Clarke and Patton and Kangethe in [129] and [130] respectively. The basic idea is the same as in the circumstance of a Luenberger observer. Using the fault model developed in (3.13)-(3.14) and the observer dynamics from (5.1)-(5.2), we calculate the residual signal as the weighted difference between measured and estimated outputs:

$$r(t) \coloneqq W(y(t) - \hat{y}(t)) = WC\xi(t) \tag{5.5}$$

Where $W \in \mathbb{R}^{p \times m}$ is the residual weighting matrix and $\xi(t)$ is the state estimation error of the system model with faults. Therefore:

$$\xi(t) = x(t) - \hat{x}(t)$$
 (5.6)

And the error dynamics are:

$$\dot{\xi}(t) = (A - LC)\xi(t) + Bf_a(t) + E_1 n_1(t)$$
(5.7)

The Laplace transform of the residual signal from (5.5) is:

$$R(s) = WC\Xi(s) \tag{5.8}$$

The Laplace transform of the error dynamics from (5.7) is:

$$s\Xi(s) = (A - LC)\Xi(s) + BF_a(s) + E_1N_1(s)$$

$$\therefore \Xi(s) = (sI - A + LC)^{-1}[BF_a(s) + E_1N_1(s)]$$
(5.9)

Putting value of $\Xi(s)$ from (5.9) to (5.8):

$$R(s) = WC(sI - A + LC)^{-1}[BF_a(s) + E_1N_1(s)]$$
(5.10)

It can be witnessed that the residual signal is non-zero even when the faults are not present. Therefore while calculating the residual signals, the weighting matrix W should be calculated such that robustness is attained; the residuals become decoupled from noise and disturbances. This is achieved through a method known as "left eigenstructure assignment" and is discussed in the following chapter.

CHAPTER 6: EIGENSTRUCTURE ASSIGNMENT

This chapter discusses the method used for achieving the disturbance decoupling in residual generation- the eigenstructure assignment method. A background of this method along with its application for robust FDI is also explained.

6.1 Eigenstructure Assignment-Basics

Generating robust residuals is making the residuals independent or insensitive to the noise disturbances or model uncertainties. Different approaches and tools have been developed for producing residual robustness such as Unknown Input Observers (UIO) and Eigenstructure assignment method. UIOs also generate robust residuals decoupled from noise disturbances and uncertainties by first making the state estimation errors free of disturbances (unknown inputs-hence the name) and then linearly transforming the errors into weighted output estimation errors [128]. As described, UIOs require calculation of state estimation errors first which are mostly not needed for FDI, so this calculation becomes surplus. Eigenstructure assignment in contrast is a direct approach for achieving disturbance decoupling in residuals which does not require state estimation errors to be decoupled first. So this approach is followed in this thesis also.

Eigenstructure assignment for FDI is basically a method in which the eigenstructure i.e. eigen values and left or right eigenvectors of the full-state observers is computed in such a manner that the eigenvectors becomes orthogonal or parallel and ultimately robust to the noise and disturbance direction vectors. Eigenstructure assignment is of two types; left and right eigenstructure assignment depending on which type of the eigenvectors is computed first. The method of left eigenstructure assignment by introduced by Patton et al. and is discussed and further elaborated in [130]. Since the left eigenstructure assignment for residual robustness is a well-developed technique, it is therefore employed in this research.

In order to fully develop and understand the method of left eigenstructure assignment, the following terms and their definitions must first be understood and clarified.

6.1.1 Rank of a matrix

The maximum number of linearly independent row (or column) vectors of a matrix **A** is termed as the rank of matrix **A**. For example:

	1	0	2]
A =	2	0	4
	3	1	9]

Has rank=2 because the first two rows are linearly dependent.

6.1.2 Vector space

The nonempty set *S* of vectors such that all the linear combinations of any two vectors **a** and **b** in *S* i.e. $\alpha \mathbf{a} + \beta \mathbf{b}$, where α and β are any real numbers, are elements of the set *S*. The vector elements of *S* satisfy the laws of addition and scalar multiplication.

6.1.3 Vector subspace

The subspace of *S* is a nonempty subset of *S*, including *S* itself, that forms a vector space as regards the laws of addition and scalar multiplication defined for the vector elements of the set *S*.

6.1.4 Dimension of vector space

The maximum number of linearly independent vectors in the set *S* is termed as the dimension of *S* or dim *S*. The dimension is equivalent to the rank of a matrix **A**.

6.1.5 Basis of vector space

The set consisting of the maximum possible number of linearly independent vectors in the set S is the basis for S. Hence the number of vector (elements) of a basis of S= dim S.

6.1.6 Span of vectors

The set consisting of all the maximum possible linear combinations of a given set of vectors V is called the span of the given set of vectors in V. The span forms a vector space as well.

6.1.7 Null space

The solution set of the homogenous system Ax = 0 is the null space of A, which is also a vector space N. The dimension dim N is called the nullity.

6.1.8 Eigenvalue

Eigenvalues are related to a linear system of equations and are also known as the characteristic roots, proper values or latent roots of a linear system [132]. If A is a square matrix of order n, then for some scalar λ :

$$\mathbf{A}\mathbf{x} = \lambda \mathbf{x} \tag{6.1}$$

Where $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n \neq \mathbf{0}$, then $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^n$ is termed as the eigenvalue of **A**.

6.1.9 Eigenvector

The vector \mathbf{x} in (6.1) is the corresponding (right) eigenvector of \mathbf{A} . It is a column vector. Eigenvectors may be left or right eigenvectors. If we have:

$$\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{L}}\mathbf{A} = \lambda \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{L}} \tag{6.2}$$

Then the row vector $\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{L}}$ is called the left eigenvector of \mathbf{A} . In most of the cases, the right eigenvectors are sufficient. The eigenvectors corresponding to one eigenvalue λ of \mathbf{A} form a vector space known as the "eigenspace" of \mathbf{A} for λ .

6.1.10 Eigenstructure

The following equation represents the complete eigenstructure of A:

$$\mathbf{AV} = \mathbf{VL} \tag{6.3}$$

Where \mathbf{V} is a diagonal matrix with the eigenvalues as the main or principal diagonal entries.

6.2 Left Eigenstructure Assignment

The manifestation of noise and model uncertainties in the control system might make it challenging to separate and detect the faults occurring in the system. This might sometimes result in false and missed alarms during FDI. The left eigenstructure assignment method caters for these challenges efficiently.

The transfer function matrix between the residuals and actuator faults from (5.10) is:

$$G_{r,f}(s) = R(s) / F_a(s) = WC(sI - A + LC)^{-1}B$$
(6.4)

And between the residuals and disturbance matrix is:

$$G_{r,n}(s) = R(s) / N_1(s) = WC(sI - A + LC)^{-1}E_1$$
(6.5)

In order to achieve residual robustness, it is desired to null the transfer function matrix formed between residuals and disturbances, that is:

$$G_{r,n}(s) = WC(sI - A + LC)^{-1}E_1 = 0$$
(6.6)

So once the values *W* and *L* are calculated in such a way that (6.6) is satisfied, the residual robustness can be attained. It is to be noted that the number of rows *p* of *W* should be selected so that $p \le m$ in order to avoid any linearly dependent rows in *W*. Normally:

$$p = m - rank(CE_1) \le m \tag{6.7}$$

is chosen as the row number for W.

Theorem 6.1:

The necessary and sufficient conditions for satisfying (6.3) are

- 1. $WCE_1 = 0$ and
- 2. All rows of matrix H = WC are the left eigenvectors of (A LC) corresponding to the chosen real and distinct eigenvalues.

Hence the above theorem should be fulfilled so that the disturbance decoupling is obtained. The mathematical proof of Theorem 6.1 may be obtained from [128].

To summarize, the following steps are taken to generate disturbance decoupled residuals through the left eigenstructure assignment method:

- 1. The residual weighting matrix *W* is calculated first so that the condition $WCE_1 = 0$ is satisfied.
- 2. The desired set of eigenvalues is chosen next for the observer. All the rows of WC are then equated to the p left eigenvectors of the observer (A-LC) and calculate the values of these eigenvectors. The remaining (n-p) eigenvectors are chosen so that good conditioning is ensured.
- 3. Finally compute the observer gain using an appropriate eigenstructure assignment technique as in [130].

The above steps can be further illuminated by means of the following example given in [131]:

Example 6.1:

Consider the following system matrices:

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 3 & 4 \\ 1 & 2 & 3 \\ 0 & 2 & 5 \end{bmatrix}; n = 3$$

$$B = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1\\2 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$C = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0\\0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$D = 0$$
$$E_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1\\0 \end{bmatrix}$$

1. By satisfying $WCE_1 = 0$; we get:

$$W = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}; p = 1$$

So that $WC = [0 \ 0 \ 1]$ which is taken as an eigenvector $l_1 \text{ of } (A - LC)$.

- 2. The desired set of eigenvalues is chosen as $\lambda = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & -2 & -3 \end{bmatrix}$. l_1 is the corresponding eigenvector of $\lambda = -1$. Now the remaining (n-p) = (3-1) = 2 eigenvectors l_1, l_2 which lie in the subspace spans $(\lambda_1 I A^T)^{-1} C^T, (\lambda_2 I A^T)^{-1} C^T$ have to be calculated.
- 3. The observer gain is calculated using the method provided in Appendix A:

$$L = \begin{bmatrix} 9 & 4 \\ 7 & 3 \\ 2 & 6 \end{bmatrix}$$

It can be observed that both the decoupling conditions are satisfied that is, $WCE_1 = 0$ and the transfer function matrix $G_{r,n}(s) = WC(sI - A + LC)^{-1}E_1 = 0$, so the generated residuals are robust.

CHAPTER 7: SEQUENTIAL PROBABILITY RATIO TEST

After the generation of robust residuals, the next phase is the decision making phase for faults. This chapter discusses and explains the statistical testing of residuals for detection of faults. A discussion of the Sequential Probability Ratio Test used in this research for the testing of residuals is provided in this chapter along with the preliminaries.

7.1 An Overview of Hypothesis Testing

The concept of hypothesis testing forms a vital part in statistics and statistical inference. Hypothesis testing basically allows the user whether to accept or reject a statement or an assumption called hypothesis regarding a parameter of the population at hand. This decision is made on the basis of information obtained from sampled data of the population. The acceptance of the hypothesis is equivalent to considering it true while rejection means the hypothesis is considered as false. When the sampled data supports the hypothesis, the hypothesis is accepted whereas the hypothesis is rejected when the sampled data cannot support the hypothesis.

7.1.1 Null and alternate hypotheses

Null hypothesis, denoted by H_0 , is the default hypothesis or statement which is put up for testing for possible rejection or nullification. The null hypothesis generally refers to the common view and is assumed to be true unless rejected or dismissed through testing. The null hypothesis forms an essential part of any statistical testing and should always be precise and unambiguous. H_0 may or may not have a numerical value assigned to it. In the simplest terms, null hypothesis is the opposite of the alternative hypothesis explained below.

Alternative hypothesis H_1 as the name implies is the substitute or the other hypothesis accepted when the null hypothesis gets rejected on the basis of some evidence. It usually refers to the observations obtained as a result of some real effect or experiment.

7.1.2 Formulation of hypotheses

The formation of precise and appropriate hypotheses is essential for good statistical testing, but it is not always a trivial task. Care must be taken while formulating the null and alternate hypotheses and they should be formed in such a manner that they are opposites of each other, that is, when one hypothesis is true, the other must be false and vice versa. The rule of thumb is to make H_1 the statement the experimenter wants to regard as true. In other words, the claim an experimenter wants to make with substantial evidence should be formed as the alternative hypothesis. The rejection of the claim is regarded as the null hypothesis accordingly.

The hypothesis testing is done on a parameter θ of the target population. For instance, if θ_0 is the specified value of the parameter θ , then the hypothesis may be formed as follows:

$$H_0: \theta = \theta_0 \tag{7.1}$$

$$H_1: \theta \neq \theta_0 \tag{7.2}$$

7.1.3 Error (misidentification) probabilities

It is quite possible that the hypothesis formulation and testing may lead to wrong decisions and errors. In other words, a null or alternate hypothesis may be rejected when it is in reality true, which is called the "Type I error" or a "False Alarm." It is also quite possible that a hypothesis may be accepted when actually it is false. This is known as the "Type II error" or a "Missed Alarm." These two types of errors are illustrated in the following Table:

True/ False	Decision		
	H_{g} Accepted	H_{θ} Rejected (or H_1 Accepted)	
H_{θ} is True	No Error	Type I Error	
H_{θ} is False	Type II Error	No Error	

 Table 7-1: Types of errors in hypotheses testing

The probability of the Type I error is represented by α which is the probability of rejecting H_0 (or accepting H_1) when it is true and is called the "False Alarm Probability." Similarly, the probability of the Type II error is symbolized by β and it is the probability of accepting H_0 (or rejecting H_1) when it is false (i.e. H_1 is true) and is known as the "Missed Alarm Probability." To summarize:

$$\alpha = P(\text{Type I error}) = P(\text{reject } H_0 / H_0 \text{ is true})$$
$$\beta = P(\text{Type II error}) = P(\text{accept } H_0 / H_0 \text{ is false})$$

7.1.4 Probability density function (pdf)

The probability density function (pdf) represents the "density" of probability of the random variable *X* at a specific point x[134] and is given as:

$$f_X(x) = \frac{dF_X(x)}{dx} \tag{7.3}$$

Where $F_X(x)$ is the cumulative distribution function (cdf), which is the probability of the event: $\{X \le x\}$. There are different types of pdfs depending upon the various types of random variables involved.

7.1.5 Gaussian distribution

The Gaussian or Normal probability distribution is the most frequently occurring distribution in most problems involving random variables-hence the name "normal probability distribution." The probability density function (pdf) of the normal distribution is:

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{\sigma\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-[(x-\mu)^2/2\sigma^2]}$$
(7.4)

Where $-\infty < x < \infty, \sigma > 0$, $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ is the mean and $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$ is the standard deviation of the normal distribution. The normal distribution can therefore be categorized completely by its parameters μ and σ , and is often denoted as $N(\mu, \sigma^2)$. The normal distribution has a symmetric bell-shaped curve known as the "normal curve".

7.1.6 Conditional probability density function

For a given event *A*, the conditional pdf of a random variable *X* is:

$$f(x|A) = P(X = x|Y = A)$$

$$= \frac{P(X = x \cap Y = A)}{P(Y = A)}$$
(7.5)

Note the conditional pdf is also a non-negative function.

7.1.7 Likelihood ratio test

In statistics, a likelihood ratio test describes how much more "likely" a given data fits one of the two test hypotheses. This test is centred on the likelihood ratio which is stated as follows:

$$\Lambda(x) = \frac{L(\theta_0 | x)}{L(\theta_1 | x)}$$
(7.6)

Where $L(\theta|x) = f_{\theta}(x)$ is the likelihood function of the parameter θ when the outcome of X is given as x. The likelihood ratio test is then given for a "critical value" c where $0 \le c \le 1$ (7.1), (7.2):

- If $\Lambda > c$; H_0 is accepted
- If $\Lambda < c$; H_0 is rejected

For some applications, the natural logarithm of the likelihood ratio is taken called the "log-likelihood ratio" and it is more convenient to use and apply.

7.2 **SPRT**

The Sequential Probability Ratio Test was introduced by Abraham Wald in 1947 [133] as a modification to Neymar and Pearson's 1933 lemma. This test was originally proposed to check and maintain quality in the production market. The items are tested in a sequential manner and the results are reviewed after each test. The SPRT is widely used in maintaining quality control. In this thesis, the SPRT is used to detect changes in the residual signals and declare faults. In SPRT, statistical hypothesis testing is basically done on the chosen parameter θ of the system as stated in equations (7.1) and (7.2). Here H_0 represents the no fault or fault free conditions for the system while H_1 is formulated for the case where a fault has arisen in the system. SPRT is essentially a binary hypothesis test [135] for declaring a fault or no fault in the residual signals. Given that no fault is declared in the system, H_0 is considered true and the sampling and SPRT continues. As soon as the decision is taken in favour of the alternative hypothesis H_1 , a fault is said to have occurred in the system and SPRT is terminated. Studies show that the SPRT provides the lowest error probabilities and shortest detection time for Gaussian distributes signals. SPRT is especially useful for noisy analogue signals and slowly forming or incipient faults and is quite easy to implement. Since the residuals generated are normally distributed, SPRT is used for the efficient testing and fault detection in this thesis.

Let $x_0, x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_n$ represent a sequence of observations obtained from a sample population which are put to the SPRT. The log-likelihood ratio of this sequence is [37]:

$$\Lambda_{n} = \log \frac{p_{\theta_{1}}(x_{n} | x_{n-1,\dots,} x_{0})}{p_{\theta_{0}}(x_{n} | x_{n-1,\dots,} x_{0})}$$
(7.7)

Where $p_{\theta}(x_n | x_{n-1,\dots,x_0})$ is the conditional pdf of the observation x_n with respect to the parameter θ . Next the cumulative sum of the log-likelihood ratio is computed recursively:

$$S_n = S_{n-1} + \Lambda_n \tag{7.8}$$

The testing process is continued until one of the following conditions get fulfilled:

- If $S_n \ge B$, H_1 is accepted and a fault is declared
- If $S_n \leq A$, H_0 is accepted and no fault is declared
- Else the test is continued.

Where A, B are user-defined design parameters depending upon the chosen error probabilities. The flow chart for a generalized SPRT is illustrated in Figure 7.1.



Figure 7.1: SPRT Flow Chart

7.2.1 SPRT for residuals possessing Gaussian distribution

It is observed that the robust residuals generated by the full-state observer are normally distributed. So the SPRT for normally distributed signals is developed and employed. Let $\{R_n\} = r_0, r_1, r_2, r_3, ..., r_n$ be the sequence or random process of normally distributed residual signals generated and r_k be a sample of the process R_n at the time instant t_k . Under normal conditions, the samples r_k should have a Gaussian pdf with mean=0 and variance= σ^2 . If the system's performance malfunctions or degrades, the mean of the sequence of samples r_k does not remain zero and drifts to a new value so that the sequence possesses a new Gaussian pdf with mean=+M and variance= σ^2 , where M is pre-defined by the user. This is called the "Positive Mean SPRT" and is employed in this thesis. The test hypotheses for the positive mean SPRT are formulated as follows:

$$H_0: r_k$$
 has Gaussian pdf with mean $\mu = 0$ and variance $= \sigma^2$ (7.9)

$$H_1: r_k$$
 has Gaussian pdf with mean $\mu = +M$ and variance $= \sigma^2$ (7.10)

And the error probabilities are:

$$\alpha =$$
False Alarm Probability (7.11)

$$\beta =$$
 Missed Alarm Probability (7.12)

For formulating SPRT test index, we must first define the likelihood ratio l_n :

$$l_n = \frac{\text{probability of } \{R_n\} \text{ given } H_1 \text{ is true}}{\text{probability of } \{R_n\} \text{ given } H_0 \text{ is true}}$$
(7.13)

After *nth* sample of the sequence, the SPRT is taken as the product of the probability ratio (PR) obtained at each step *k*:

$$l_{n} = (PR)_{1} \cdot (PR)_{2} \cdot (PR)_{3} \cdot \dots \cdot (PR)_{n}$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{f(r_{k} | H_{1})}{f(r_{k} | H_{0})}$$
(7.14)

Where $f(r_k | H)$ is the conditional pdf of the random process *R*. Since *R* is normally distributed, the likelihood that H_1 is true is given as:

$$L(r_1, r_2, r_3, ..., r_n | H_1) = \frac{1}{\sigma^n (2\pi)^{n/2}} \exp\left[\frac{-1}{2\sigma^2} \left(\sum_{k=1}^n r_k^2 - 2\sum_{k=1}^n r_k M + \sum_{k=1}^n M^2\right)\right]$$
(7.15)

And the likelihood that H_0 is true is given as:

$$L(r_1, r_2, r_3, ..., r_n | H_0) = \frac{1}{\sigma^n (2\pi)^{n/2}} \exp\left[\frac{-1}{2\sigma^2} (\sum_{k=1}^n r_k^2)\right]$$
(7.16)

Dividing (7.15) by (7.16) to get the likelihood ratio l_n :

$$l_{n} = \exp\left[\frac{-1}{2\sigma^{2}}\sum_{k=1}^{n}M(M-2r_{k})\right]$$
(7.17)

Next the acceptance thresholds are defined as follows:

$$A = \frac{\beta}{(1-\alpha)} \tag{7.18}$$

$$B = \frac{(1-\beta)}{\alpha} \tag{7.19}$$

Where *A* is the lower threshold and *B* is the upper threshold. Note that both the thresholds are related to the error probabilities. According to Wald, at each time index t_k , the likelihood ratio is compared to the thresholds and a decision is taken in favour of or against the fault as follows:

- If l_n ≥ A, the test is stopped and the null hypothesis H₀ is accepted, i.e. no fault has occurred
- If $l_n \leq B$, the test is stopped and the null hypothesis H_1 is accepted i.e. a fault has occurred
- If $A < l_n < B$, neither hypothesis is accepted and the test continues.

For SPRT, the positive mean test index is calculated by taking the natural logarithm of the likelihood ratio l_n in (7.17) as follows:

$$\ln(l)_{n} = \ln(\exp\left[\frac{-1}{2\sigma^{2}}\sum_{k=1}^{n}M(M-2r_{k})\right])$$

$$\therefore \text{SPRT} = \frac{-1}{2\sigma^{2}}\sum_{k=1}^{n}M(M-2r_{k})$$
(7.20)

$$\text{or SPRT} = \frac{M}{\sigma^{2}}\sum_{k=1}^{n}(r_{k}-\frac{M}{2})$$

Similarly taking the natural logarithm of the acceptance thresholds for SPRT:

$$\ln(A) = \ln\left(\frac{\beta}{1-\alpha}\right) \tag{7.21}$$

$$\ln(B) = \ln\left(\frac{1-\beta}{\alpha}\right) \tag{7.22}$$

At the initial step of SPRT, the test index in (7.20) is set to zero and the system disturbance magnitude for M and the error probabilities α and β are defined. The system disturbance magnitude means the number of standard deviations the pdf must shift in the positive direction to generate an alarm. Then at each time period, the SPRT index is compared to the upper and lower thresholds given in (7.21) and (7.22) respectively to produce one of the following outcome:

• If SPRT
$$\leq \ln(A) \leq \ln\left(\frac{\beta}{1-\alpha}\right)$$
; H_0 is accepted

• If SPRT
$$\geq \ln(B) \geq \ln\left(\frac{1-\beta}{\alpha}\right)$$
; H_1 is accepted

• Otherwise if
$$\ln\left(\frac{\beta}{1-\alpha}\right) < \text{SPRT} < \ln\left(\frac{1-\beta}{\alpha}\right)$$
; no conclusion, testing continues.

Utilizing the SPRT in the thesis, efficient and optimal fault decision results are obtained. SPRT is the last stage of FDI as shown in Figure 4.2.

CHAPTER 8: MULTIPLE MODELS SWITCHING AND TUNING METHOD AND LINEAR QUADRATIC GAUSSIAN REGULATORS

After FDI stage, the active FTC requires a reconfiguration step to maintain overall stability and produce desired and appropriate control actions. This chapter provides an overview of the reconfiguration step in FTC and an in depth discussion on the method used for reconfiguration in this thesis.

8.1 Reconfiguration

The Passive FTC is an off-line method for FTC and is based on the theory and concepts of robust control. It therefore does not need any FDI module. Active FTC on the other hand is based on information on faults provided by the FDI stage and is more efficient and interactive. This research uses the Active FTC ideas for reconfiguration and maintaining stability.

As shown earlier in Figure 2.2, Active FTC is in turn classified into projection type FTC and online adaptation methods. Projection type is designed in this thesis for reconfiguration and requires a priori information regarding the type of faults for designing the possible appropriate controllers. Projection type is sub-divided into three groups; prediction, model switching/ blending and scheduling. Due to its efficiency and better transient performance, the projection type FTC is preferred over online adaptation methods [137].

8.2 Terminology

In this section, the general terms essential for the theory of Multiple Models Switching and Tuning (MMST) are briefly discussed [138]:

8.2.1 Model

The representation of the essential parts of the system in a convenient and suitable form is called a model of the system. Different forms of models may be developed for a system depending upon the purpose and convenience. The most common and suitable method of demonstrating the behaviour of a system is by formation of a mathematical model of the system. In the MMST technique, multiple models (both heuristic and mathematical) formed through different analysis and assumptions are used to achieve improved and efficient performance.

8.2.2 Environment

The mathematical model of the system includes both the plant dynamics and external environment parameters. In most cases the plant dynamics are represented by differential equations as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = f(x(t), u(t), p)$$
(8.1)

$$y(t) = h(x(t), p)$$
 (8.2)

Where the parameter vector p might represent different environments including different faults, disturbances and model uncertainties.

8.2.3 Multiple models

Practically a plant operates in different environments so any change in the environment parameters may bring about a variation in the input-output characteristics of the system and these changes may be rapid or sometimes even discontinuous. A single model if used for representing the plant and its dynamics will have to be adapted each time the environment changes. This may lead to a slow response and a large transient error. Therefore multiple models are necessary to control different environments rapidly. If models of the plant pertaining to different environments are available in advance, the corresponding controllers can also be designed *a priori*. During system operation, the task remains only to identify the current environment and model to determine the correct controller efficiently. Thus multiple models may be preferable to a single model in most of the cases.

8.2.4 Switching

In rapidly or sporadically switching environments, the reconfigurable control strategy must be fast enough to detect these rapid changes in the parameters of the environment and to switch accordingly to avoid permanent and detrimental failures. By using fixed multiple models, the appropriate pre-designed controller can be selected swiftly from a set of available controllers. This type of reconfigurable control though not changing (adapting) incrementally, can also be considered to be adaptive and is efficient in rapidly varying practical environments.

8.2.5 Tuning

Incremental and gradual estimation and adjustment of control parameters is known as tuning in the classical adaptive control theory [139].

8.2.6 Switching and tuning

In a general MMST scheme, the identification of the environment generally occurs in two steps; switching and tuning. The rapid selection of the model with the least error, as per a specific performance principle, is switching and then the adjustment of its parameters gradually to improve accuracy is tuning. Switching is basically determines when the current model of the plant is unsatisfactory, that is when to switch, and which one to replace it with, that is what to switch to. Tuning is involved in determining the rule by which the parameter value of the controller is to be adjusted at each time step [140]. Therefore it can be stated that switching is rapid but generally not adequately accurate whereas tuning is comparatively slower but improves the performance of the system [139].

8.3 Multiple Models Switching and Tuning (MMST)

There has been an abundant research and development in the domain of adaptive control by means of multiple models switching and tuning during the past decade. This control method was invented in the early 1990's and proved to be greatly beneficial for the control of plants in rapidly changing environments [139]. The MMST is shown to work best with varying flight conditions therefore it is used in this thesis for reconfiguration [69].

8.3.1 General architecture of the multiple models control system

The general design of the multiple models control system which estimates the current environment and its parameters is shown in Figure 8.1. The plant *P* that is to be reconfigured and controlled has the input u(t) and the output is y(t). The desired output of the system is $y_d(t)$ and the control error is given as $e_c(t) = y_d(t) - y(t)$ which is to be asymptotically driven to zero through reconfiguration. There are *N* identification models denoted by $\{M_i\}_{i=1}^N$ which have the corresponding outputs $\{y_i\}_{i=1}^N$ and are operating in parallel. Each M_i has a corresponding controller C_i with output $u_i(t)$ which is designed so that it achieves the control objectives of the system. At each time step, the identification errors $e_i(t) = \hat{y}_i(t) - y(t)$ are computed for each of the models and a switching rule decides which model and the corresponding control should be switched on to provide the input to the plant. It should be added that the controller must be designed keeping

in mind the intended performance, stability and efficiency requirements. The aforementioned MMST architecture is quite broad-spectrum and applies to both linear and nonlinear systems.



Figure 8.1: General MMST architecture

8.3.2 The switching criterion for MMST

The formation and the choice of a switching criterion forms an important part of the MMST method. The switching criterion relies upon the *a priori* information available about the plant and affects the stability and performance of the reconfiguration step. When choosing any switching criterion, the following important issues need to be addressed [139]:

- 1. When should the switching from one to another model take place?
- 2. Which model should be switched on?
- 3. Is the switching scheme stable?
- 4. Will the switching continue or will it stop after some finite amount of time?
- 5. Is the performance improved by using the switching scheme?

The aforementioned issues should be appropriately addressed when designing the MMST architecture. Different switching criterion can be formed which tackle the above issues satisfactorily. The switching criterion is in fact the performance index established on the basis of the identification errors $e_i(t)$ which may be designed in one of the following forms:

1.
$$J_i(t) = e_i^2(t)$$

2.
$$J_i(t) = \int_0^t e_i^2(\tau) d\tau$$

3.
$$J_i(t) = \alpha e_i^2(t) + \beta \int_0^t e_i^2(\tau) d\tau$$

4.
$$J_i(t) = \alpha e_i^2(t) + \beta \int_0^t e^{-\lambda(t-\tau)} e_i^2(\tau) d\tau$$

At each time instant *i*, the most appropriate performance index $J_i(t)$ for each model is calculated and the controller corresponding to the least value of $J_i(t)$ that is min_i{ $J_i(t)$ } is employed to provide the control input to the plant at the instant *i* as this minimizes the regulation or the tracking errors during reconfiguration.

While making a choice among one of the above stated performance indices, both instantaneous and long-term accuracy measures need to be kept in mind to ensure reliable performance. The analysis regarding this choice is done by empirical studies and observations. Studies in [141] show that if the performance index no.1 is chosen, then the transients $\ln e_i^2(t)$ are quickly detected but the switching gets tremendously rapid and results in poor control. Choosing the performance index no.2 may lead to good information about the steady-state errors but it may result in a slow response to the transient peaks. If the performance index no.3 is selected, one has to wait for a time period of $\min_i \{J_i(t)\}$ before switching on the controller to prevent randomly rapid switching [141]. Motivated by the quadratic optimal control theory, the fourth performance index i.e. $J_i(t) = \alpha e_i^2(t) + \beta \int_0^t e^{-\lambda(t-\tau)} e_i^2(\tau) d\tau$ is chosen as a switching criterion

[141]. Where $\alpha \ge 0, \beta > 0, \lambda > 0$ are design parameters depending on the user's choice. A suitable trade-off is obtained between instantaneous and long-term accuracy measures by determining appropriate values for α, β . The long-term memory of the performance index is determined

through λ which also ensures the boundedness of the index $J_i(t)$ for the cases where $e_i(t)$ is bounded [140]. All the parameters may be chosen through experience and observations off-line. It is to be noted that at a given time instant, only one controller is active to provide the control and hence the performance evaluation of any contender controller can be done only after its activation. On the other hand, using the above mentioned MMST architecture, at every instant the performance of each of the identification models can be assessed in parallel and this leads to better and appropriate results. Hence during calculating the performance indices, the performance of the models instead of the controllers should be used as a yard stick. In other words, identification errors should be used rather than the control errors.

8.3.3 Choice of models

Given past knowledge of the different possible environments, the designer has the freedom to select the suitable number and architecture of the models and controllers along with their parameter vectors. The designer might use fixed models or adaptive models or a combination of the two [138]. Using fixed models makes computations easier while it is generally cumbersome with adaptive models. However a single adaptive model may be sufficient for reconfiguration as compared to a large number of different fixed models. The choice about the structure and number of models is made off-line depending upon the prior knowledge about the plant and its parameters. In this thesis, all fixed models are used for the MMST scheme.

8.3.4 Stability analysis of MMST

[141] discusses the stability of the MMST technique. The following cases are discussed:

- 1. If all models are adaptive, the overall stability is guaranteed for any of the stated switching schemes, but a fixed but arbitrarily small interval is allowed between switches. This allows the designer to choose any of the switching schemes for MMST.
- 2. If all the models are fixed, and the performance index no. 4 is used and at least one of the fixed models has to be "sufficiently close" to the plant depending upon the plant parameters, stability is assured.
- By using a mixture of fixed and adaptive models, the overall system is stable with zero steady state error. Nonetheless, a sufficiently large number of fixed models still has to be determined off-line for satisfactory transient response

8.4 Linear Quadratic Gaussian (LQG) Regulator

8.4.1 LQG-An overview

In the feedback gain control of SISO systems, a unique feedback gain is obtained, provided that the system is controllable. On the other hand no unique feedback gain is obtained for MIMO systems, so additional design freedom is available which can be utilized to obtain good trade-offs between robustness, performance, and control effort. Optimal Control Theory is used in such cases to resolve these issues and obtain good performance and efficient results. One such technique of optimal controls is the Linear Quadratic Gaussian (LQG) control. In this type of optimal control instead of specifying the exact value of the desired closed loop eigenvalues, a performance objective function is specified. The LQG controller has two cases; the finite time horizon and the infinite time horizon case.

The basic motivation of moving on to LQG controllers from Linear Quadratic Regulators (LQR) is that in most practical scenarios, all of the states are not available at the output at all of the time instants. Thus the assumption of the availability of the states in LQRs is not very pragmatic. Also in most environments, measurement and process noise corrupt the systems. So the effect of the noise must also be catered for when designing optimal controllers. Both the above stated issues can be solved by using LQG regulators instead of LQRs. The LQG design has two basic steps which can be performed independently of each other:

- 1. Estimate the states using the available information by employing a Kalman Filter.
- 2. Apply the LQR design using the estimated state vector $\hat{x}(t)$.

Kalman filter design:

The system dynamics are:

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t) + w(t)$$
 (8.3)

$$y(t) = Cx(t) + Du(t) + v(t)$$
 (8.4)

Where w(t), v(t) depict the process and measurement noise respectively. In most cases these noise vectors are supposed to be white noise and have a zero mean and uncorrelated Gaussian distributions that is:

$$E[w(t)] = E[v(t)] = 0$$
(8.5)

$$E[w(t)v^{T}(t)] = 0$$
(8.6)

The covariance matrices of both noise vectors are assumed to be known:

$$E[w(t)w^{T}(t)] = Q \tag{8.7}$$

$$E[v(t)v^{T}(t)] = R$$
(8.8)

Also:

$$\hat{x}_0(0) = E[x_0(0)] \tag{8.9}$$

$$P_0(0) = E[\hat{e}_0(0)\hat{e}_0^T(0)]$$
(8.10)

Where $P_0(0)$ is the error covariance at t = 0.

The discrete Kalman Filter works using two steps; the predictor and the corrector steps to produce estimates of the states. No distinction exists between these two steps in the continuous case [143]. Since this thesis involves working in the continuous time, so this case is explained here. For the continuous time Kalman Filter, the state estimate and the covariance have the following differential equation:

$$\hat{x}(t) = A\hat{x}(t) + Bu(t) + K(y(t) - C\hat{x}(t))$$
(8.11)

$$\dot{P}(t) = AP(t) + P(t)A^{T} - K(t)R^{-1}K(t) + Q$$
(8.12)

Where *K* is the Kalman gain matrix given as:

$$K = P(t)C^{T}(t)R^{-1}$$
(8.13)

The differential equation for the covariance matrix $P \ge 0$ is actually the continuous time Algebraic Riccatti Equation (CARE).

LQR design:

For the LQR design, the cost function that is minimized is:

$$J = \int_{0}^{\infty} (x^{T}(t)Qx(t) + u^{T}(t)Ru(t))dt$$
(8.14)

The matrices Q, R present the trade-off between control effort and performance. Q is added to penalize the state x(t) and R penalizes the control effort u(t). The feedback control achieved on minimizing the cost function in (8.14) is:

$$u(t) = -L\hat{x}(t) \tag{8.15}$$

Where $L = R^{-1}B^T P$ is the LQR's optimal gain matrix and $P \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \ge 0$ is obtained by solving the Algebraic Riccatti Equation (ARE).

$$0 = PA + A^T P - PBR^{-1}B^T P + Q \tag{8.16}$$

The above ARE is solvable only when (A, B) pair is controllable and (Q, R) pair is detectable.

8.4.2 MMST scheme with LQG

In this paper the LQG control method is employed as a basic control law within the framework of MMST scheme for reconfiguration. A bank of four different models pertaining to the four different actuator fault scenarios; no fault, abrupt, incipient and intermittent fault along with their respective suitable LQG controllers is pre-designed. Each of these model + controller pertains to a specific fault condition. At each time step, an appropriate switching index is computed and the model with the lowest value of this index is selected and the corresponding controller is switched on for reconfiguration. This method is simple yet efficient and robust for a broad range of flight conditions and is hence applied in this research.

CHAPTER 9: MATHEMATICAL MODELLING OF UAVs

This chapter provides an outline of the fundamentals of flight mechanics for aerial vehicles which will help in understanding and using the mathematical model of the Aerosonde UAV as a benchmark for testing the developed robust FTC scheme for actuator faults.



Figure 9.1: Aircraft body axis system

9.1 Airplane Flight Mechanics

Figure 9.1 taken from [143] shows the body axis system of an aircraft. The centre of gravity of the aircraft is taken as the origin of the axes which are the roll axis x_b , pitch axis y_b and yaw axis

 z_b . The rotation rates about these axes are the roll rate p, pitch rate q and the yaw rate r while the moments about these axes are the roll moment L, pitch moment M and the yaw moment N. The deflections of the control surfaces; aileron, elevator and rudder, control the roll, pitch and yaw rates respectively by changing the curvature of a wing or tail surface, the aircraft's lift, and its moment about the corresponding body axis. It is to be noted however that the yawing and rolling motions are coupled and not pure unlike the pitching motion. Newton's laws are used for the analysis of airplane motions in the development of flight mechanics and the airplane is considered as a rigid body. The important aircraft parts are displayed in Figure 9.2 [144].



Figure 9.2: Important aircraft parts

9.2 Forces Acting on the Aircraft

The forces acting on an aircraft are illustrated in the Figure 9.3 and are explained below [145]:



Figure 9.3: Forces acting on an aircraft

9.2.1 Lift

The upward force which elevates up and sustains the aircraft in flight is called the lift. Lift force, caused by the air flow, depends upon the wing shape. The aircraft ascends only when the lift force becomes greater than the aircraft's weight.

9.2.2 Weight

The downward force which includes the weight of the aircraft along with the load is called the weight. It is directly proportional to the upward lift force. When the weight becomes greater than the aircraft's lift force, the aircraft descends.

9.2.3 Thrust

Thrust is the force exerted by the aircraft's engines which pushes the air backwards and causes a reaction force to move the aircraft in the forward direction.

9.2.4 Drag

The drag force is opposition to the thrust and causes a resistance to the aircraft's forward motion. The drag of the air makes reduces the speed of the aircraft. Drag is also called air resistance. It is caused by all the parts.

9.3 Equations of Motion in 6DOF

Since the Newton's laws of motion are effective only in an inertial frame of reference which is not accelerating or rotating, for airplane motion, the earth is considered as an approximate inertial frame of reference, and this aerodynamic model is termed as the "flat earth model", which may give small errors in analysis. The following equations govern the translational and rotational motion of an airplane:

- 1. Equations which provide the translational and rotational position of the aircraft relative to the earth reference frame called the Kinematic equations.
- 2. Equations which relate the corresponding forces to translational acceleration and moments to rotational acceleration known as the Dynamic equations.
- 3. Equations describing the variable-mass features of the airplane (centre of gravity, mass and moments of inertia) versus time.
- 4. Equations which provide the positions of the control surfaces and other movable parts of the airplane such as landing gear, flaps, wing sweep, etc. versus time.

The above equations are together called the "Six Degree of Freedom (6DOF) equations of motion." The 6DOF equations are used depending upon the specific arena of flight mechanics

being analysed and inspected. These equations are non-linear are further linearized for simplicity by an appropriate method of linearization.

9.3.1 Non-linear equations of motion

The non-linear mathematical model of UAV consists of 15 differential equations which are summarized below [145]:

Position Equations:

$$\dot{x} = u\cos\theta\cos\phi + v(-\cos\phi\sin\psi + \sin\theta\cos\psi) + w(\sin\phi\sin\psi + \cos\phi\sin\theta\cos\psi)$$
$$\dot{y} = u\cos\theta\sin\psi + v(\cos\phi\cos\psi + \sin\theta\sin\psi) + w(\sin\phi\cos\psi + \cos\phi\sin\theta\sin\psi)$$
(9.1)
$$\dot{z} = u\sin\theta - v(\sin\phi\cos\theta\sin\psi) - w(\cos\theta\cos\theta)\dot{h}$$

Velocity Equations:

$$\dot{u} = rv - wq - g\sin\theta + \left(\frac{T + D\cos\alpha\cos\beta - L\sin\alpha - Y\cos\alpha\sin\beta}{M}\right)$$

$$\dot{v} = -ru - wq - g\sin\phi\cos\theta + \left(\frac{D\sin\beta + Y\cos\beta}{M}\right)$$

$$\dot{w} = ru - wq - g\sin\theta + \left(\frac{T + D\cos\alpha\cos\beta - L\sin\alpha - Y\cos\alpha\sin\beta}{M}\right)$$

(9.2)

Moment Equations:

$$\dot{p} = I_z l + xI_{xz} n + I_{xz} (I_x - I_z + I_y) pq + \frac{(I_z I_y - I_z^2 - I_{xz}^2 qr)}{(I_x I_z - I_{xz}^2)}$$

$$\dot{q} = m - pr(I_x - I_z) - I_{xz} \frac{(p^2 - r^2)}{(I_y)}$$

$$\dot{r} = I_{xz} l + I_x n + (I_x^2 - I_y I_x) pq - I_{xz} \frac{(I_z - I_y + I_x) pr}{(I_x I_z - I_{xz}^2)}$$
(9.3)

Kinematic Equations:

$$\dot{\phi} = p + \tan \theta + q \sin \phi + r \cos \phi$$

$$\dot{\theta} = q \cos \phi - r \sin \phi$$
(9.4)

$$\dot{\psi} = \frac{(q \sin \phi + r \cos \phi)}{\cos \theta}$$

Wind Axes Equations:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{u} \\ \dot{\alpha} \\ \dot{q} \\ \dot{\theta} \\ \dot{h} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} X_u & X_\alpha & 0 & -g & 0 \\ \frac{Z_u}{u_0 - Z_{\dot{\alpha}}} & \frac{Z_\alpha}{u_0 - Z_{\dot{\alpha}}} & \frac{u_0}{u_0 - Z_{\dot{\alpha}}} & 0 & 0 \\ M_u & M_\alpha & M_q & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -u_0 & 0 & u_0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u \\ \alpha \\ q \\ \theta \\ h \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} X_{\delta_e} \\ Z_{\delta_e} \\ M_{\delta_e} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \delta_e$$
(9.5)

Where x, y, z is the translational position components of the aircraft in the three axes in geographical coordinate system, u, v, w are the translational velocity components in body frame, θ, ϕ, ψ are pitch, roll and yaw attitude angles respectively, h is the airplane's altitude above sea level, p, q, r are rolling, pitching and yawing moments in body frame, α is the angle of attack and β is the sideslip angle, V is the velocity of the airplane relative to the ground, T is the thrust of engine, M is the mass of the UAV, I_x, I_y, I_z are the moments of inertia while I_{xz}, I_{xy}, I_{yz} are the products of these moments. D is the drag, L is the lift and Y is the side-force given as follows:

$$D = QSC_D$$

$$L = QSC_L$$

$$Y = QSC_Y$$
(9.6)

Where Q is the dynamic pressure, S is the reference wing area. l, m, n are the moments about the three axis and are computed as follows:

$$l = QSBC_{1}$$

$$m = QSCC_{m}$$

$$n = QSBC_{n}$$
(9.7)

Where $C_D, C_L, C_Y, C_l, C_m, C_n$ are the drag, lift, side force and rolling, pitching and yawing coefficients of moment respectively. These coefficients may be computed as follows:

$$C_{D} = C_{DO} + C_{D}^{\alpha} + \frac{C_{D}^{\alpha}QC}{2V} + \frac{C_{D}^{\alpha}\dot{\alpha}C}{2V} + \frac{C_{D}^{\alpha}u}{V} + C_{D}^{\delta_{e}}\delta_{e}$$

$$C_{Y} = C_{Y}^{\beta}\beta + \frac{C_{Y}^{r}pb}{2V} + \frac{C_{Y}^{r}rb}{2V} + C_{Y}^{\delta_{\alpha}}\delta_{\alpha} + C_{Y}^{\delta_{r}}\delta_{r}$$

$$C_{L} = C_{L0} + C_{L}^{\alpha}\alpha + \frac{C_{L}^{\alpha}QC}{2V} + \frac{C_{L}^{\dot{\alpha}}\dot{\alpha}C}{2V} + C_{L}^{\delta_{e}}\delta_{e}$$

$$C_{l} = C_{l}^{\beta}\beta + \frac{C_{l}^{r}pb}{2V} + \frac{C_{l}^{r}rb}{2V} + C_{l}^{\delta_{\alpha}}\delta_{\alpha} + C_{l}^{\delta_{r}}\delta_{r}$$

$$C_{m} = C_{m0} + C_{m}^{\alpha}\alpha + \frac{C_{m}^{\alpha}QC}{2V} + \frac{C_{m}^{\dot{\alpha}}\dot{\alpha}C}{2V} + \frac{C_{m}^{\mu}u}{V} + C_{m}^{\delta_{e}}\delta_{e}$$

$$C_{n} = C_{n}^{\beta}\beta + \frac{C_{n}^{r}pb}{2V} + \frac{C_{n}^{r}rb}{2V} + C_{n}^{\delta_{\alpha}}\delta_{\alpha} + C_{n}^{\delta_{r}}\delta_{r}$$
(9.8)

Where δ_a , δ_e and δ_r are the aileron, elevator and rudder deflections, measured in radians, respectively. The values and description of the other parameters used in (9.8) can be obtained from [145].

9.3.2 Aircraft dynamic models

The behaviour of an aircraft after its steady non-oscillating flight has been disturbed can be illustrated through the dynamic models; the longitudinal and lateral directional models [146]. The disturbed oscillating motions of the aircraft are described by two parameters; the oscillation time period and the time taken by the amplitude of the unstable motion to be damped to half or increased to double. There longitudinal directional model comprises of the "phugoid mode" which has a longer period and a short period mode. In the phugoid mode, the variations in the amplitudes of altitude, air-speed and pitch angle are large but there is almost no variation in the angle-of-attack. On the other hand, in the short period mode there is typically a pitching oscillation which is heavily damped and has a period of only a few seconds. The speed does not change, only the angle-of-attack varies.

In the lateral directional mode, rolling and yawing motions are coupled into each other. There can be three kinds or modes of lateral directional dynamic motions: roll subsidence mode, spiral mode, and Dutch roll mode. Roll subsidence mode involves the damping of the rolling motion and the combined rolling and yawing motion is the Dutch roll mode. It may be added that spiralling is an inherent oscillatory motion for the lateral directional model.

9.3.3 Linear equations of motion

The 6DOF non-linear mathematical model of UAV may be linearized about a nominal point to simply the model. The linearized longitudinal and lateral directional state space models [147] of the UAV are given below in (9.9), (9.10) respectively:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{u} \\ \dot{\alpha} \\ \dot{q} \\ \dot{\theta} \\ \dot{h} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} X_{u} & X_{\alpha} & 0 & -g & 0 \\ \frac{Z_{u}}{u_{0} - Z_{\dot{\alpha}}} & \frac{Z_{\alpha}}{u_{0} - Z_{\dot{\alpha}}} & \frac{u_{0}}{u_{0} - Z_{\dot{\alpha}}} & 0 & 0 \\ M_{u} & M_{\alpha} & M_{q} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -u_{0} & 0 & u_{0} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u \\ \alpha \\ q \\ \theta \\ h \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} X_{\delta_{e}} \\ N_{\delta_{e}} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \delta_{e}$$
(9.9)
$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{\beta} \\ \dot{p} \\ \dot{r} \\ \dot{\phi} \\ \dot{\psi} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{Y_{p}}{u_{0}} & g \cos \theta & \frac{Y_{\beta}}{u_{0}} & \frac{Y_{r} - u_{0}}{u_{0}} & 0 \\ L_{p} & 0 & L_{\beta} & L_{r} & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ N_{p} & 0 & N_{\beta} & N_{r} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \beta \\ p \\ r \\ \phi \\ \psi \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} Y_{\delta_{a}} & Y_{\delta_{r}} \\ L_{\delta_{a}} & L_{\delta_{r}} \\ 0 & 0 \\ N_{\delta_{a}} & N_{\delta_{r}} \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \delta_{a} \\ \delta_{r} \end{bmatrix}$$
(9.10)

9.4 Aerosonde UAV

The Aerosonde is a small-class commercial UAV. It is mainly used for meteorological purposes especially collecting weather data. It was originally designed and developed by Insitu Inc. which is an American company. Later on the Australian based UAV Company "Aerosonde Ltd.," which is a subsidiary of the "AAI Corporation" started manufacturing the Aerosonde UAV [148]. The Aerosonde UAV is a fixed wing aircraft and some of its specifications may be found in [149].



Figure 9.4: Aerosonde UAV 48

CHAPTER 10: SIMULATIONS AND RESULTS

After the development of the FTC scheme, its efficiency and robustness is tested by applying it on a linearized lateral directional model of the Aerosonde UAV found in [150]. This chapter provides the mathematical model of the Aerosonde UAV, inputs, requirements and results of the MATLAB simulations of the FTC technique.

10.1 State Space Model of Aerosonde UAV

FTC scheme is designed and analysed in the Simulink/ MATLAB environment using the following state space matrices:

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -0.64 & 1.51 & 22.95 & -9.78 & 0 \\ -4.19 & -20.63 & 9.93 & 0 & 0 \\ 0.68 & -2.68 & -1.04 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1.00 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1.00 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1.00 & 0 & 0 \\ \end{bmatrix}$$
$$B = \begin{bmatrix} -1.25 & 3.19 \\ -109.84 & 1.98 \\ -4.33 & -20.17 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$C = \begin{bmatrix} 0.04 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$D = 0_{5\times 2}$$

The state vector of the lateral directional model for the Aerosonde UAV is:

$$x = \begin{bmatrix} v \\ p \\ r \\ \phi \\ \psi \end{bmatrix}$$
49

- -

Where v = translational velocity in y-axis, p = roll rate, r = yaw rate, $\phi =$ roll angle and $\psi =$ yaw angle.

10.2 Addition of Disturbances and Noise in the Aerosonde UAV State Space Model

In order to cater for the disturbance and model uncertainties faced by the UAV in the practical environment, these are introduced in the state space model in the form of the following disturbance matrix:

$$E = 15 \times \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{vmatrix}$$

The noise encountered by the system is selected as Gaussian noise with mean=0 and 0.1 variance.

10.3 Inputs and Outputs of the Aerosonde UAV State Space Model

The input signals vector $u(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_a \\ \delta_r \end{bmatrix}$, δ_a = aileron deflection and δ_r = rudder deflection is

simulated as a step function of 5 radians amplitude as displayed in Figure 10.1.



Figure 10.1: Input vector

At the output, we have the vector:

$$y = \begin{bmatrix} \beta \\ p \\ r \\ \phi \\ \psi \end{bmatrix}$$

Where β = sideslip angle.

10.4 Actuator Faults introduced in the Aerosonde UAV State Space Model

The three different type of actuator faults; abrupt, incipient and intermittent; are injected only at the first input as fault. The actuator faults are introduced at three different at simulation times to check the efficiency, accuracy and robustness of the proposed FTC technique: t=2, 5 and 7s as step functions of 0.3 amplitude, unit ramp and a unit pulsed signal with periods of 3 (for t=2s) and 2 seconds and pulse widths of 0.14s (for t=2s) 0.03s (for t=5s) and 0.08s (for t=7s) respectively. The different actuator faults introduced in the system at t=2s are shown below:







Figure 10.4: Intermittent actuator fault at t=2s

10.5 Application of the proposed FDI technique on the Aerosonde UAV State Space Model

The FDI is applied on the UAV model. The observer eigenvalues are set as [-11.5397 -19.4274 -2.0692 -0.9755 -0.4240] and the eigenstructure assignment method is applied to ensure robustness. Figures 10.5-10.8 display the robust residuals generated by our FDI scheme. The disturbance decoupling is successfully achieved as shown in these plots.


Figure 10.5: Residual signals generated when no faults are present

10.5.1 FDI for actuator faults at t=2s



Figure 10.6: Residual signals generated when abrupt fault is present



Figure 10.7: Residual signals generated when incipient fault is present



Figure 10.8: Residual signals generated when intermittent fault is present

After the residuals, SPRT is applied in Simulink. The error probabilities are $\alpha = \beta = 0.2$. The delays encountered while the detection of the actuator faults are enlisted in Table 10-1.

Actuator Fault at	Delay (in seconds)
t=2s	
Abrupt Fault	0.2312
Incipient Fault	0.3883
Intermittent Fault*	0.03, 0.03, 0.03

 Table 10-1: Delays in actuator fault detection at t=2s

*For the intermittent type of fault, pulses occur at t= 2s, 5s and 8s.

The tabulated data proves that our FDI scheme experiences minimum delays in the detection of UAV actuator faults.

The FDI scheme is applied for the cases where actuator faults occur at t=5s and the results are displayed in the subsequent sections:

10.5.2 FDI for actuator faults at t=5s



Figure 10.9: Residual signals generated when abrupt fault is present



Figure 10.10: Residual signals generated when incipient fault is present



Figure 10.11: Residual signals generated when intermittent fault is present

Actuator Fault at t=5s	Delay (in seconds)
Abrupt Fault	0.1845

 Table 10-2: Delays in actuator fault detection at t=5s

Incipient Fault	0.3996
Intermittent Fault*	0.0266, 0.0266

*For the intermittent type of fault, pulses occur at t= 5s and 8s.

10.5.3 FDI for actuator faults at t=7s



Figure 10.12: Residual signals generated when abrupt fault is present



Figure 10.13: Residual signals generated when incipient fault is present



Figure 10.14: Residual signals generated when intermittent fault is present

Actuator Fault at t=5s	Delay (in seconds)
Abrupt Fault	0.1850
Incipient Fault	0.3788
Intermittent Fault*	0.0266, 0.0266

Table 10-3: Delays in actuator fault detection at t=7s

*For the intermittent type of fault, the pulses occur at t=7s and 9s.

10.6 Application of the proposed Reconfiguration technique on the Aerosonde UAV State Space Model

The output regulation is achieved in the reconfiguration phase through the LQG based MMST approach. Each of the fault models has a different LQG (with different parameters). Figs 10.15-10.18 demonstrate the small regulation errors produced when our proposed reconfiguration technique is applied on the Aerosonde model.



Figure 10.15: Output of LQG when no faults are present

10.6.1 Reconfiguration for actuator faults at t=2s



Figure 10.16: Output of LQG when abrupt fault is present



Figure 10.17: Output of LQG when incipient fault is present



Figure 10.18: Output of LQG when intermittent fault is present

10.6.2 Reconfiguration for actuator faults at t=5s



Figure 10.19: Output of LQG when abrupt fault is present



Figure 10.20: Output of LQG when incipient fault is present



Figure 10.21: Output of LQG when intermittent fault is present

10.6.3 Reconfiguration for actuator faults at t=7s



Figure 10.22: Output of LQG when abrupt fault is present



Figure 10.23: Output of LQG when incipient fault is present



Figure 10.24: Output of LQG when intermittent fault is present

CHAPTER 11: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE SCOPE

This chapter puts forward the closing remarks and presents some recommendations which may be applied to further enhance and improve the work done in this research.

11.1 Conclusions

The control and navigation of UAVs almost always requires a robust FTC scheme to cater for the different faults experienced during flight and prevent failures and permanent instabilities. This thesis has developed and presented a robust FTC scheme for UAVs in the presence of three forms of actuator faults; abrupt, incipient and intermittent. The FTC scheme consists of robust FDI and reconfiguration steps. Full-state observer is used for FDI and the eigenstructure assignment method ensures the robustness of FDI. SPRT decides for the faults efficiently. For reconfiguration, the LQG based MMST technique is introduced. Subsequently, the claimed robustness and efficiency of our FTC system is demonstrated through simulations on a linearized lateral directional model of the Aerosonde UAV. This suggested FTC scheme, combining robust FDI with reconfiguration has not been implemented till date on the Aerosonde UAV model in this fashion, to the best of knowledge. Furthermore, the minimum detection times and small regulation errors illustrate and justify the efficiency, robustness and practicality of our developed FTC technique.

11.2 Future Work

This research opens up different avenues for future work and research on the FTC of UAVs. In this research, actuator faults are incorporated in the UAV model only at a single (first) input but in some practical environments, faults may occur at more than one input simultaneously. So for the future, fault isolation for multiple input actuator faults may be incorporated to enhance the proposed FTC scheme. A reference tracking scheme may be developed instead of a regulation one for the reconfiguration phase of the UAV FTC. As stated in Chapter 3, sensor and component faults also affect the UAVs during flight so the FTC technique developed in this thesis may be enhanced by making it to identify and cater for sensor and component faults along

with the actuator faults. Finally a non-linear model and appropriate adjustments may also be applied as a future addition to this research work.

APPENDIX A

MATLAB CODE:

The MATLAB program used for the robust FTC of Aerosonde UAV is given below: % %% FTC FOR THE LATERAL DIRECTIONAL MODEL OF AEROSONDE AIRCRAFT close all;clear ;clc; %% State Space Model for Aerosonde UAV A=[-0.64 1.51 -22.95 9.78 0 -4.19 -20.63 9.93 0 0 0.68 - 2.68 - 1.04 0 0 0 1.00 0 0 0 001.0000]; B=[-1.25 3.19 -109.84 1.98 -4.33 -20.17 00 0 0]; $C = [0.04 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0]$ 01000 00100 00010 0 0 0 0 1];D=zeros(5,2);sys = ss(A, B, C, D);*t*=0:100; %% Adding Disturbances and Faults *amp*=15;

E=amp*ones(5,2); %% disturbance matrix including uncertainties

disp('please input the fault time:'); t_fault=input('simulation start time=0s, end time=10s:'); disp('please input the fault type:'); fault_type=input('l=abrupt fault ,2= incipient fault,3=intermittent fault:'); %% Left Eigen Structure Assignment Method rnk=rank(C*E);%%check if (rnk<length(A)) $temp = C^*E;$ W=null(temp'); W = W'; $lhs = W^*C;$ l = lhs': lambda=[-11.5397 -19.4274 -2.0692 -0.9755 -0.4240]; P=-inv(lambda(length(A)))*eye(length(A))-A')*C'; % subspace span for j=2:length(A)ll=P(:,j)+P(:,j-1); % computing eigenvector from subspace end l(:,length(A)) = ll;for i=1:length(A)P=-(inv(lambda(i)*eye(length(A))-A'))*C';w(:,i) = inv(P) * l(:,i);end%% check if li in span of P for i=1:length(A)P=-(inv(lambda(i)*eye(length(A))-A'))*C'; $proj_l(:,i) = P^*w(:,i);$ end res=proj_l-l; end

```
%% %% Observer Design
```

```
0
        0
               0 1e8
                           0
                     0 1e8];
  0
        0
               0
Rint=0.2*eye(2);
[Kint,ricint,eig_new_int] = lqr(A,B,Qint,Rint);
%% FTC
 model = 'thesis_lqg';
 load_system(model)
 sim(model)
%% Plots
figure;
plot(r_fault,'linewidth',1.2);
xlabel('Time(s)');
ylabel('Residual Signal,r(t)');
title(");
figure;
plot(yhat_out,'linewidth',1.2);
xlabel('Time(s)');
ylabel('LQG Output,y(t)');
title(");
magnify;
%
```

The above MATLAB script loads data of all the required parameters to a Simulink model which then applies the algorithm proposed in this thesis for FTC.

REFERENCES

- [1] Perley, C., 1863, "Improvement in Discharging Explosive Shells from Balloons," US37771A.
- [2] Schaefer, R., 2003, "Unmanned Aerial Vehicle Reliability Study," Office of the Secretary of Defense, Washington, DC.
- [3] Neumann, J. V., 1956, "Probabilistic Logics and Synthesis of Reliable Organisms," Annals of Mathematics Studies, vol. 34(1), pp. 43–98.
- [4] Beard, R. V., 1971, "Failure Accommodation in Linear System through Self Reorganization," PhD thesis, Massachuset'ts Institute of Technology, Mass., USA.
- [5] Mehra, R. K. and Peschon, J., 1971, "An Innovations Approach to Fault Detection and Diagnosis in Dynamic Systems," *Automatica* '7: 637-640.
- [6] Willsky, A. S. and Jones, H. L., 1974, "A Generalized Likelihood Approach to State Estimation in Linear Systems Subjected to Abrupt Changes," *Proc. of the 1974 IEEE Conf. on Control and Decision*, Arizona.
- [7] Willsky, A. S., Deyst, J. J. and Crawford, B. S., 1974, "Adaptive Filtering and Self-test Methods for Failure Detection and Compensation," *Proc. of the 197 Joint Amer. Contr. Conf.*, Austin, pp. 637-645.
- [8] Clark, R. N., Fosth, D. C. and Walton, V. M., 1975, "Detecting Instrument Malfunctions in Control Systems," *IEEE Trans. Aero. 4 Electron. Syst.* AES-li: 465-473.
- [9] Mironovski, L. A., 1979, "Functional Diagnosis of Linear Dynamic Systems," Automn. Remote Control 40: 1198-1205.
- [10] Chow, E. Y. and Willsky, A. S., 1980, "Issues in the Development of a General Algorithm for Reliable Failure Detection," *Proc. of the 19th Conf. on Decision &Control*, Albuquerque, NM.
- [11] Frank, P. M. and Keller, L., 1981, "Sensitivity Discriminating Observer Design for Instrument Failure Detection," IEEE *Trans. Aero. & Electron. Syst.* AES-16: 460-467.
- [12] Geiger, G., 1982, "Monitoring of an Electrical Driven Pump using Continuous-Time Parameter Estimation Methods," *Proc. the 6th IFAC Sympo. on Identification and Parameter Estimation*, Pergamon Press, Washington.

- [13] Watanabe, K. and Himmelblau, D. M., 1982, "Instrument Fault Detection in Systems with Uncertainties," *Int. J. System Sci.*, vol. 13(2): 137-158.
- [14] Patton, R. J., Willcox, S. W. and Winter, S. J., 1986, "A Parameter Insensitive Technique for Aircraft Sensor Fault Analysis," *Proc. of the AIAA Conf. on Guidance, Navigation & Control*, Williamsburg, Va., pp. 86-2029-CP. Also published in a revised form in *J. of Guidance, Control & Dynamics*, vol. 10, No.3, pp. 359-367, 1987; translated into Russian and re-published in *J. Of Aero. and Space Techno.*, pp. 82-91, August 1988.
- [15] Lou, X., Willsky, A. S. and Verghese, G. C., 1986, "Optimally Robust Redundancy Relations for Failure Detection in Uncertain Systems," *Automatica*, vol. 22(3), pp. 333-344.
- [16] Viswanadham, N., Taylor, J. H. and Luce, E. C., 1987, "A Frequency-Domain Approach to Failure Detection and Isolation with Application to GE-21 Turbine," *Engine Control Systems, Control - Theory and Advanced Technology*, vol. 3(1), pp. 45-72.
- [17] Viswanadham, N. and Minto, K. D., 1988, "Robust Observer Design with Application to Fault Detection," *Proc. the 1988 Amer. Control Conf.*, Atlanta, GA, vol.3, pp. 1393-1399.
- [18] Emami-Naeini, A. E., Akhter, M. M. and Rock, S. M., 1988, "Effect of Model Uncertainty on Failure Detection: the Threshold Selector," *IEEE Trans. Automat. Contr.* AC-33(2), pp. 1106-1115.
- [19] Gertler, J. and Luo, Q., 1989, "Robust Isolable Models for Failure Diagnosis," *AIChE J.*, vol. 35(11), pp. 1856-1868.
- [20] Patton, R. J. and Chen, J., 1991, "Detection of Faulty Sensors in Aero Jet Engine Systems using Robust Model-Based Methods," *IEEE Colloquium on Condition monitoring for Fault Diagnosis*, TEE Colloquium Digest No. 1991/156.
- [21] Patton, R. J. and Chen, J., 1991, "Optimal Selection of Unknown Input Distribution Matrix in the Design of Robust Observers for Fault Diagnosis," *Preprints of IFAC/IMACS Sympo. SAFEPROCESS'91*, Baden-Baden, vol.1, pp. 221-226. Also published in revised form in *Automatica*, vol.29, no.4, pp. 837-841.
- [22] Patton, R. J. and Chen, J., 1991, "A Parity Space Approach to Robust Fault Diagnosis Using Eigenstructure Assignment," *Proc. First European Control Conf. ECC'91*, Grenoble, France, pp. 1419-1424.
- [23] Stengel, R., 1991, "Intelligent failure-tolerant control," *IEEE Contr. Sys. Mag.*, vol.11, no.4, pp.14-23.

- [24] Mangoubi, R., Appleby, B. D. and Farrell, J. R., 1992, "Robust Estimation in Fault Detection," *Proc. of the 31st Conf. on Decision 4 Control*, Tucson, AZ, pp. 2317-2322.
- [25] Chen, J., Patton, R. J. and Liu, G. P., 1994, "Design of Optimal Residuals for Detecting Sensor Faults using Multi-object Optimization and Genetic Algorithms," *Proc. of 199 AIAA Guidance, Navigation and Control Conf,* The Phoenician Scottsdale, AZ, USA, pp. 349-357, AIAA-94-3581-CP.
- [26] Frank, P., and Ding, X., 1997, "Survey for Robust Residual Generation and Evaluation Methods in Observer-based Fault Detection Systems," J. Proc. Contr., vol.7, no.6, pp. 403-424.
- [27] Patton, R., 1997, "Fault-tolerant Control Systems: The 1997 Situation," Proc. IFAC Symp. Fault Detection, Supervision Safety for Techn. Process, pp.1033-1054, Hull, UK.
- [28] Blanke, M., Izadi-Zamanabadi, R., Bogh, S., and Lunau, C., 1997, "Fault tolerant Control Systems-A Holistic View," *Contr. Eng. Practice*, vol.5, no.5, pp.693-702.
- [29] Isermann, R., 2005, "Model-based Fault-detection and Diagnosis Status and Applications," *Annu. Rev. Contr.*, vol.29, no.1, pp.71–85.
- [30] Jiang, J., 2005, "Fault-tolerant Control Systems—An Introductory Overview," Acta Automatica Sinica, vol.31, no.1, pp.161-174.
- [31] Jiang, Canghua, Zhou, Donghua, Gao, Furong, 2006, "Robust Fault Detection and Isolation for Uncertain Linear Retarded Systems," *Asian Journal of Control*, vol. 8 (2), pp. 141-152.
- [32] Tharrault, Y., Mourot, G., Ragot, J., 2008, "Fault Detection and Isolation with Robust Principal Component Analysis," in 16th Mediterranean Conference on Control and Automation, pp.59-64.
- [33] Lunze, J., and Richter, J., 2008, "Reconfigurable Fault-tolerant Control: A Tutorial Introduction," *Eur. J. Contr.*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp.359-386.
- [34] Zhang, Y., and Jiang, J., 2008, "Bibliographical Review on Reconfigurable Fault-Tolerant Control Systems," *Annu. Rev. Contr.*, vol.32, no.2, pp.229-252.
- [35] Hong, W., Tian-You, C., Jin-Liang, D., Martin, B., 2009, "Data Driven Fault Diagnosis and Fault Tolerant Control: Some Advances and Possible New Directions," *Acta Automatica Sinica*, vol. 35, no. 6.

- [36] Benosman, M., 2010, "A Survey of Some Recent Results on Nonlinear Fault Tolerant Control," *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, vol. 2010, Article ID 586169, 25 pages.
- [37] Hwang, I., Sungwan, K., Youdan, K., Seah, C.E., 2010, "A Survey of Fault Detection, Isolation, and Reconfiguration Methods," in *Control Systems Technology, IEEE Transactions* on, vol.18, no.3, pp.636-653.
- [38] Isermann, R., 2011, "Fault-diagnosis Applications: Model-based Condition Monitoring: Actuators, Drives, Machinery, Plants, Sensors, and Fault-Tolerant Systems," Springer Science & Business Media.
- [39] Sobhani, Hossein, M. and Poshtan, J., 2012, "Fault Detection and Isolation Using Unknown Input Observers with Structured Residual Generation," *Int. J. Instrumentation and Control Systems*, 2.2, pp. 1-12.
- [40] Odgaard, Li, P., Stoustrup, P. F., Larsen, J., A., and Mork, K., 2012, "Model-Based Fault Detection and Isolation of a Liquid-Cooled Frequency Converter on a Wind Turbine," *Journal of Control Science and Engineering*, vol. 2012, Article ID 684610, 21 pages.
- [41] Maa, H. J. and Yanga, G. H., 2013, "Residual Generation for Fault Detection and Isolation in a Class of Uncertain Nonlinear Systems," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 86, iss. 2.
- [42] Qi, X., Zhang C. and Gu, J., 2012, "Robust Fault-Tolerant Control for Uncertain Networked Control Systems with State-Delay and Random Data Packet Dropout," *Journal of Control Science and Engineering*, vol. 2012, Article ID 734758, 7 pages.
- [43] Wang, Shenquan, Feng, Jian, Zhang, Huaguang, "Robust fault tolerant control for a class of networked control systems with state delay and stochastic actuator failures," *International Journal of Adaptive Control and Signal Processing*, vol. 28 (9), pp. 798–811.
- [44] Balas and Gary, "Fault Tolerant Control and Fault Detection/Isolation Design for Linear Parameter Varying Systems," *International Journal of Adaptive Control and Signal Processing*, vol. 26 (3), pp. 189.
- [45] Zanoli, S. M., and Astolfi, G., 2013, "Application of a Fault Detection and Isolation System on a Rotary Machine," *International Journal of Rotating Machinery*, vol. 2013, Article ID 189359, 11 pages.

- [46] Hafaifa, A., Guemana, M., Daoudi, A., 2013, "Fault Detection and Isolation in Industrial Systems Based on Spectral Analysis Diagnosis," *Intelligent Control and Automation*, vol. 4, pp. 36-41.
- [47] Sami, M., Patton, R. J., 2013, "Active Fault Tolerant Control for Nonlinear Systems with Simultaneous Actuator and Sensor Faults," *International Journal of Control, Automation and Systems*, volume 11, issue 6, pp 1149-1161.
- [48] Jin, X. Z., 2013, "Robust Adaptive Switching Fault-Tolerant Control of a Class of Uncertain Systems against Actuator Faults," *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, vol. 2013, Article ID 852502, 9 pages.
- [49] Bouibeda, K., Seddikia, L., Gueltonb, K., and Akdaga, H., "Actuator and Sensor Fault Detection and Isolation of an Actuated Seat Via Nonlinear Multi-observers," *Systems Science* & *Control Engineering*, volume 2, issue 1, 2014, pp. 150-160.
- [50] Shi, Yun-Tao, et al., 2014, "H∞ fault tolerant control of wecs based on the PWA model." *Energies*, 7.3, pp. 1750-1769.
- [51] Yang, J., Zhu, F., Wang, X. and Xuhui B., 2015, "Robust sliding-mode observer-based sensor fault estimation, actuator fault detection and isolation for uncertain nonlinear systems," *International Journal of Control, Automation and Systems*, Volume 13, Issue 5, pp. 1037-1046.
- [52] W., Huang and X., Su, 2015, "Design of a Fault Detection and Isolation System for Intelligent Vehicle Navigation System," *International Journal of Navigation and Observation*, vol. 2015, 19 pages.
- [53] Shi, F. and Patton R. J., 2015, "Fault Estimation and Active Fault Tolerant Control for Linear Parameter Varying Descriptor Systems," *Int. J. Robust. Nonlinear Control*, vol. 25, pp. 689–706.
- [54] Gao, Z., Ding, S.X., Cecati, C., 2015, "Real-time Fault Diagnosis and Fault-tolerant Control," in *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.62, no.6, pp.3752-3756.
- [55] Rasmussen, N., 1975, "Reactor Safety Study," United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission, WASH-1400, Rockville, MD, USA.
- [56] An, X., Gu, J., Zhao, B., Xu, D., and Xi, S., 1994, "Application of FBOLES, A Prototype Expert System for Fault Diagnosis in Nuclear Power Plants," *Reliab. Eng. Syst. Safety*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 225–235.

- [57] Kim, K. and Bartlett, E. B., 1996, "Nuclear Power Plant Fault Diagnosis Using Neural Networks with Error Estimation by Series Association," *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 2373–2388.
- [58] Isermann, R., Schwartz, R. and Stolzl, S., 2002, "Fault-Tolerant Drive-By-Wire Systems," *IEEE Control Syst. Mag.*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 64–81.
- [59] Addel-Geliel, M., Zakzouk, S. and El Sengaby, M., 2012, "Application of Model based Fault Detection for an Industrial Boiler," 2012 20th Mediterranean Conference on Control & Automation (MED), Barcelona, Spain.
- [60] Venkatasubramanian, V., Rengaswamy, R., Yin, K., and Kavuri, S. N., 2003, "A Review of Process Fault Detection and Diagnosis Part III: Process History Based Methods," *Comput. Chem. Eng.*, vol. 27, pp. 327–346.
- [61] Montgomery, R. C., and Caglayan, A. K., 1976, "Failure Accommodation in Digital Fight Control Systems by Bayesian Decision Theory," *Journal of Aircraft*, vol. 13(2), pp. 69–75.
- [62] Montgomery, R. C., and Price, D. B., 1976, "Failure Accommodation in Digital Fight Control Systems for Nonlinear Aircraft Dynamics," *Journal of Aircraft*, vol. 13(2), pp. 76– 82.
- [63] Rault, A., Richalet, A., Barbot, A., and Sergenton, J. P., 1971, "Identification and Modeling of a Jet Engine," *Proceedings of IFAC Symposium on Digital Simulation of Continuous Processes*, Gyor, Hungary.
- [64] Briere, D. and Traverse, P., 1993, "Airbus A320/A330/A340 Electrical Fight Controls— A Family of Fault-Tolerant Systems," *Proc. 23rd Int. Symp. Fault-Tolerant Comput.*, pp. 616–623.
- [65] Isermann, R. and Balle, P., 1997, "Trends in the Application of Model-Based Fault Detection and Diagnosis of Technical Processes," *Control Eng. Practice*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 709-719.
- [66] Reliability, Availability and Maintainability Dictionary, ASQC Quality press, 1988, Milwaukee.
- [67] IFIP working group 10.4, *Reliable Computing and Fault Tolerance*, (meeting in Como, Italy), 1983.

- [68] Blanke, M., Kinnaert, M., and Lunze, J., *Diagnosis and Fault Tolerant Control*, Springer, 2006, ch. 1, pp. 1-32.
- [69] Alwi, H., et al., 2011, "Fault Detection and Fault-Tolerant Control Using Sliding Modes," Advances in Industrial Control, Springer-Verlag London Limited.
- [70] Blanke, M., Staroswiecki, M., and Wu, E., 2001, "Concepts and Methods in Tolerant Control," *Tutorial at American Control Conference*, ch. 1, pp. 1-32.
- [71] Eterno, J. S., Looze, D. P., Weiss, J. L. and Willsky, A. S., 1985, "Design Issues for Fault-tolerant Restructurable Aircraft Control," *Proc. 24th CDC*, Fort Lauderdale, pp. 900-905.
- [72] Marzat, J., Lahanier, H. P., Damongeot, F. and Walter, E., 2012, "Model-based Fault Diagnosis for Aerospace Systems: A survey," *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering*, SAGE Publications, vol. 226 (10), pp 1329-1360.
- [73] Qi, X., Theilliol, D., Qi, J., Zhang, Y.M. and Han, J., 2013, "A Literature Review on Fault Diagnosis Methods for Manned and Unmanned Helicopters," *International Conference* on Unmanned Aircraft Systems, Atlanta, GA.
- [74] Chen, J., Patton, R. J., and Liu, G. P., 1994, "Detecting Incipient Sensor Faults in Flight Control Systems," in *Proceedings of the 3rd IEEE Conference on Control applications*, Glasgow, Scotland, vol. 2, pp. 871–876.
- [75] Miller, R. H. and Larsen, M. L., 2003, "Optimal Fault Detection and Isolation Filters for Flight Vehicle Performance Monitoring," in *Proceedings of the 2003 IEEE Aerospace Conference*, Big Sky, USA, vol. 7, pp. 3197–3203.
- [76] Mattei, M., and Paviglianiti, G., 2005, "Online Approximators for the Actuators FDI of a Small Commercial Aircraft," in *Proceedings of the 16th IFAC World Congress*, Prague, Czech Republic, pp. 336–341.
- [77] Slegers, N. and Costello, M., 2007, "Variable Structure Observer for Control Bias on Unmanned Air Vehicles," J. *Guid. Control Dyn.*, vol. 30(1), pp. 281–286.
- [78] Sharma, R. and Aldeen, M., 2007, "Fault Detection in Nonlinear Systems with Unknown Inputs Using Sliding Mode Observer," in *Proceedings of the American Control Conference*, New York City, USA, pp. 432–437.

- [79] Boskovic, J. D., Bergstrom, S. E., Mehra, R. K., Co, S. S., and Woburn, M. A., 2005,
 "Retrofit Reconfigurable Flight Control in the Presence of Control Effector Damage," in Proceedings of the American Control Conference, Portland, USA, pp. 2652–2657.
- [80] Yan, X. G. and Edwards, C., 2008, "Robust Sliding Mode Observer-based Actuator Fault Detection and Isolation for a Class of Nonlinear Systems," *Int. J. Syst. Sci.*, vol. 39(4), 349– 359.
- [81] Clark, R. N., 1978, "Instrument Fault Detection," *IEEE Trans. Aerosp. Electron. Syst.*, vol. 3, pp. 456–465.
- [82] Ducard, G. and Geering, H. P., 2008, "Efficient Nonlinear Actuator Fault Detection and Isolation System for Unmanned Aerial Vehicles," J. Guid. Control Dyn., pp. 225–237.
- [83] Dimogianopoulos, D., Hios, J., and Fassois, S., 2011, "Aircraft Engine Health Management via Stochastic Modelling of Flight Data Interrelations," *Aerosp. Sci.Technol.*, in press.
- [84] Rausch, R. T., Goebel, K. F., Eklund, N. H., and Brunell, B. J., 2007, "Integrated Inflight Fault Detection and Accommodation: a Model-based Study," *J. Engng Gas Turb. Power*, vol. 129(4), pp. 962–969.
- [85] Cheng, Q., Varshney, P. K., Michels, J. H., and Belcastro, C. M., 2008, "Fault Detection in Dynamic Systems via Decision Fusion," *IEEE Trans. Aerosp. Electron. Syst.*, vol. 44(1), p. 227.
- [86] Doll, C., Hardier, G., Varga, A., and Kappenberger, C., 2010, "IMMUNE Project : An Overview," in *Proceedings of the 18th IFAC Symposium on Automatic control in aerospace*, Nara, Japan, vol. 18(1), pp. 434-439.
- [87] Berdjag, D., Zolghadri, A., Cieslak, J., and Goupil, P., 2010, "Fault Detection and Isolation for Redundant Aircraft Sensors," in *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Control and fault-tolerant systems, SysTol'10*, Nice, France, pp. 137–142.
- [88] Eide, P. K. and Maybeck, P. S., 1996, "An MMAE Failure Detection System for the F-16," *IEEE Trans. Aerosp. Electron. Syst.*, vol. 32(3), pp. 125–1136.
- [89] Hajiyev, C. and Caliskan, F., 2000, "Sensor/actuator Fault Diagnosis Based on Statistical Analysis of Innovation Sequence and Robust Kalman Filtering," *Aerosp. Sci.Technol.*, vol. 4(6), pp. 415–422.

- [90] Kim, H.S., Park, S.K., Kim, Y., and Park, C.G., 2005, "Hybrid Fault Detection and Isolation Method for UAV Inertial Sensor Redundancy Management System," in *Proceedings of the 16th IFAC World Congress*, Prague, Czech Republic, pp. 265–270.
- [91] Jayakumar, M. and Das, B. B., 2010, "Isolating Incipient Sensor Faults and System Reconfiguration in a Flight Control Actuation System," *Proc. IMechE, Part G: J. Aerospace Engineering*, vol. 224(1), pp. 101–111.
- [92] Magrabi, S. M. and Gibbens, P. W., 2002, "Decentralised Fault Detection and Diagnosis in Navigation Systems for Unmanned Aerial Vehicles," in *Proceedings of the IEEE Position Location and Navigation Symposium*, San Diego, USA, pp. 363–370.
- [93] Mezyani, T. E., Düstegör, D., Srivastava S. K., and Cartes, D. A., 2010, "Parity Space Approach for Enhanced Fault Detection and Intelligent Sensor Network Design in Power Systems," *Power and Energy Society General Meeting*, 2010 IEEE, Minneapolis, MN, pp. 1-8.
- [94] Bonfe, M., Castaldi, P., Geri, W., and Simani, S., 2006, "Fault Detection and Isolation for On-board Sensors of a General Aviation Aircraft," *Int. J. Adaptive Control Signal Process.*, vol. 20(8), pp. 381–408.
- [95] Bo, Y., Yongyuan, Q., and Yan, C. A method for fault detection and isolation in the integrated navigation system for UAV. Meas. Sci. Technol., 2006, 17(6), 1522–1528.
- [96] Kim, S., Kim, Y., Park, C. G., and Jung, I., 2006, "Hybrid Fault Detection and Isolation Techniques for Aircraft Inertial Measurement Sensors," *Int. J. Aeronaut. Space Sci.*, vol. 7(1), pp. 73–83.
- [97] Zolghadri, A., Goetz, C., Bergeon, B., and Denoize, X., 2002, "Integrity Monitoring of Flight Parameters using Analytical Redundancy," in *Proceedings of the UKACC International Conference on Control*, Sheffield, UK, pp. 1534–1539.
- [98] Saif, M. and Guan, Y., 1993, "A New Approach to Robust Fault Detection and Identification," *IEEE Trans. Aerosp. Electron. Syst.*, vol. 29(3), pp. 685–695.
- [99] Park, T. G. and Lee, K. S., 2004, "Process Fault Isolation for Linear Systems with Unknown Inputs," *IET Control Theory Applic.*, vol. 151, pp. 720–726.
- [100] Amato, F., Cosentino, C., Mattei, M., and Paviglianiti, G., 2006, "A Direct/functional Redundancy Scheme for Fault Detection and Isolation on an Aircraft," *Aerosp. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 10(4), pp. 338–345.

- [101] Bateman, F., Noura, H., and Ouladsine, M., 2008, "Active Fault Detection and Isolation Strategy for an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle with Redundant Flight Control Surfaces," in *Proceedings of the 16th Mediterranean Conference on Control and automation*, Ajaccio, France, pp. 1246–1251.
- [102] Melody, J. W., Hillbrand, T., Baar, T., and Perkins, W. R., 2001, "H1 Parameter Identification for In-flight Detection of Aircraft Icing: the Time-Varying Case," *Control Eng. Pract.*, vol. 9(12), pp. 1327–1335.
- [103] Mattei, M., and Paviglianiti, G. Managing sensor hardware redundancy on a small commercial aircraft with H1FDI observers. In Proceedings of the 16th IFAC World Congress, Prague, Czech Republic, 3–8 July 2005, pp. 347–352.
- [104] Amato, F., Cosentino, C., Mattei, M., and Paviglianiti, G., 2006, "A Direct/functional Redundancy Scheme for Fault Detection and Isolation on an Aircraft," *Aerosp. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 10(4), pp. 338–345.
- [105] Rotstein, H. P., Ingvalson, R., Keviczky, T., and Balas, G. J., 2006, "Fault Detection Design for Uninhabited Aerial Vehicles," J. Guid. Control Dyn., vol. 29(5), pp. 1051–1060.
- [106] Glavaski, S., Elgersma, M., Dorneich, M., and Lommel, P., 2002, "Failure Accommodating Aircraft Control," in *Proceedings of the American Control Conference*, vol. 5, Anchorage, USA, pp. 3624–3630.
- [107] Glavaski, S. and Elgersma, M., 2002, "Active Aircraft Fault Detection and Isolation," in Proceedings of IEEE Systems Readiness Technology Conference AUTOTESTCON, Valley Forge, USA, pp. 692–705.
- [108] De Persis, C., De Santis, R., and Isidori, A., 2001, "Nonlinear Actuator Fault Detection and Isolation for a VTOL Aircraft," in *Proceedings of the American Control Conference*, Arlington, USA, vol. 6, pp. 4449–4454.
- [109] Bonfe, M., Castaldi, P., Geri, W., and Simani, S., 2007, "Nonlinear Actuator Fault Detection and Isolation for a General Aviation Aircraft," *Space Technol.*, vol. 27(2–3), pp. 107–114.
- [110] Benini, M., Bonfe, M., Castaldi, P., Geri, W., and Simani, S., 2008, "Fault Diagnosis Strategies for a Simulated Nonlinear Aircraft Model," in *Proceedings of the 17th IFAC World Congress*, Seoul, Republic of Korea, pp. 7300–7307.

- [111] Schutte, P. C., Abbott, K. H., Palmer, M. T., and Ricks, W. R., 1987, "An Evaluation of a Real-time Fault Diagnosis Expert System for Aircraft Applications," in *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Decision and control*, Los Angeles, USA, vol. 26, pp. 1941–1947.
- [112] Stengel, R. F. and Handelman, D., 1989, "Combining Expert System and Analytical Redundancy Concepts for Fault-tolerant Flight Control," *J. Guid. Control Dyn.*, vol. 12, pp. 39–45.
- [113] Samy, I., Postlethwaite, I., and Gu, D. W., 2010, "Sensor Fault Detection and Accommodation using Neural Networks With Application to a Nonlinear Unmanned Air Vehicle Model," *Proc. IMechE, Part G: J. Aerospace Engineering*, vol. 224(4), pp. 437–447.
- [114] Napolitano, M. R., An, Y. and Seanor, B. A., 2000, "A Fault Tolerant Flight Control System for Sensor and Actuator Failures Using Neural Networks," *Aircraft Des.*, vol. 3(2), pp. 103–128.
- [115] Dasgupta, D., Krishnakumar, K., Wong, D., and Berry, M., 2004, "Negative Selection Algorithm for Aircraft Fault Detection," *Artif. Immune Syst.*, vol. 3239, pp. 1–13.
- [116] Dinie, M., 2008, "Fault Detection Using Neural Network," PhD diss., University Malaysia Pahang.
- [117] Venkatasubramanian, V., Vaidyanathan, R., & Yamamoto, Y., 1990, "Process Fault Detection and Diagnosis Using Neural Networks—I Steady-state Processes," *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, vol. 14(7), pp. 699-712.
- [118] Halim, A., 2008, "Fault Tolerant Sliding Mode Control Schemes with Aerospace Applications," PhD. Thesis, Dept. of Engineering University of Leicester.
- [119] Hess, R. A. and Wells, S. R., 2003, "Sliding Mode Control Applied to Reconfigurable Flight Control Design," *Journal of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics*, vol. 26:3, pp. 452-462.
- [120] Tao, G., Chen, S., Tang, X., Joshi, S.M., Adaptive control of Systems with Actuator Failures, Berlin: Springer, 2004.
- [121] Xu, Q., Yang, H., Jiang, B., Zhou, D., Zhang, Y., 2013, "Adaptive Fault-tolerant Control Design for UAVs Formation Flight Under Actuator Faults," in *Unmanned Aircraft Systems* (*ICUAS*), 2013 International Conference on , vol., no., pp.1097-1105.

- [122] Luo, Y., Serrani, A., Yurkovich, S., 2007, "Model Predictive Dynamic Control Allocation Scheme for Re-entry Vehicles," *Journal of Guidance, Control and Dynamics*, vol. 30, no.1, pp. 100-113.
- [123] Boskovic, J.D. and Mehra, R.K., 2002, "Fault Accommodation Using Model Predictive Methods," *American Control Conf.*, pp.5104-5109.
- [124] Péni, T., Vanek, B., Szabó Z., and Bokor, J., 2013, "Supervisory Fault Tolerant Control of the GTM UAV using LPV Methods," *International Journal of Applied Mathematics and Computer Science*, volume 25, Issue 1.
- [125] J. D., Boskovik, S. M., Li, and R. K., Mehra, 2001, "On-Line Failure Detection and Identification (FDI) and Adaptive Reconfigurable Control (ARC) in Aerospace Applications," *American Control Conference, 2001. Proceedings of the 2001*, Arlington, VA, vol.4, pp. 2625-2626.
- [126] Lee, D., 2004, "Adaptive Reconfigurable Flight Control System Using Multiple Model Model Switching," M.S. Thesis, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Seoul National University, Seoul, Korea.
- [127] Liu, L., Shen, Y., and Dowell, E. H., 2012, "Integrated Adaptive Fault-Tolerant H Infinity Output Feedback Control with Adaptive Fault Identification," *Journal of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics*, vol. 35:3, pp. 881-889.
- [128] Chen, J., 1995, "Robust Residual Generation for Model-based Fault Diagnosis of Dynamic Systems," Ph.D. dissertation, Dept. Electron. Eng., University Of York, ch. 4.
- [129] Clark, R. N., 1979, "The Dedicated Observer Approach to Instrument Failure Detection," Proc. of the 18th IEEE Conf on Decision and Control, Fort Lauderdale, Fla., pp. 237-241.
- [130] Patton, R. J. and Kangethe, S.M., 1989, "Robust Fault Diagnosis Using Eigenstructure Assignment of Observers," in R. J. Patton, P. M. Frank and R. N. Clark (eds), *Fault Diagnosis in Dynamic Systems, Theory and Application*, Prentice Hall, chapter 4, pp. 99-154.
- [131] Patton, R. J., and Chen, J., 2000, "On Eigenstructure Assignment for Robust Fault Diagnosis," *Int. J. Robust Nonlinear Control*, vol. 10, pp. 1193–1208.
- [132] Weisstein, E. W., "Eigenvalue," from MathWorld-A Wolfram Web Resource. http://mathworld.wolfram.com/Eigenvalue.html.
- [133] Wald, A., A Sequential Analysis, New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1947.

- [134] Garcia, L., Probability and Random Processes for Electrical Engineering, 2nd edition, Addison-Wesley Publishing Company Inc., 1994.
- [135] Herzog, J. P., Yue, Y. Y., and Bickford, R. L., 1998, "Dynamics Sensor Validation for Reusable Launch Vehicle Propulsion," in *Proc. AIAA/ASME/SAE/ASEE Joint Propulsion Conf.*, AIAA-1998-3604.
- [136] Gross, K. C., and Humenick, K. E., 1991, "Sequential Probability Ratio Test for Nuclear Plant Component Surveillance," *Nuclear Technology*, vol. 93, p.131.
- [137] Balakrishnan, J., 1995, "Control System Design Using Multiple Models, Switching, and Tuning," Ph.D. dissertation, Yale Univ., New Haven, CT.
- [138] Narendra, K. S., Balakrishnan, J., and Ciliz, M. K., 1995, "Adaptation and Learning Using Multiple Models, Switching, and Tuning," in *IEEE Control Systems*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 37-51.
- [139] Narendra, K. S., Driollett, O. A., F., Matthias, and George, K., 2003, "Adaptive Control Using Multiple Models, Switching and Tuning," *International Journal of Adaptive Control and Signal Processing*, vol. 17, pp. 1-16.
- [140] Narendra, K. S., and Balakrishnan, J., 1997, "Adaptive Control Using Multiple Models," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 42, no. 2.
- [141] Narendra, K. S., and Balakrishnan, J., 1994, "Improving Transient Response of Adaptive Control Systems using Multiple Models and Switching," *IEEE Transactions on automatic control*, vol. 39, no. 9, pp. 1861-1866.
- [142] Bucy, R.S. and Joseph, P.D., Filtering for Stochastic Processes with Applications to Guidance, John Wiley & Sons, 1968; 2nd Edition, AMS Chelsea Publ., 2005.
- [143] Hull D. G., 2007, Fundamentals of Airplane Flight Mechanics, Springer-Verlag.
- [144] Sarwar, S., Saeed-ur-Rehman, and Shah, S. F., 2013, "Mathematical Modelling of Unmanned Aerial Vehicles," *Mehran University Research Journal of Engineering & Technology*, volume 32, no. 4.
- [145] Raghu Chaitanya, .M.V, "Model Based Aircraft Control System Design and Simulation," Degree Project Department of Management and Engineering, LUIT.
- [146] Bernard, E., and Lloyd, D. R., 1996, Dynamics of Flight, Stability and Control, Third Edition, John Wiley and Sons, INC, Canada.

- [147] Jan, R., "Airplane Flight Dynamics and Automatic Flight Control," Roskam Aviation and Engineering Corporation, USA.
- [148] <u>http://www.spacewar.com/reports/AAI_Corp_Acquires_Leading_Australian_UAV_Deve</u> loper_Aerosonde.html.
- [149] <u>http://www.militaryfactory.com/aircraft</u>.
- [150] Tousi, M. M. and Khorasani, K., 2011, "Robust Observer Based Fault Diagnosis for an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle," *IEEE International Systems Conference (SysCon)*, pp. 428-434.